

Initiative Spotlight Pour éliminer la violence à l'égard des femmes et des filles

Annual Narrative Programme Report

Programme Title: Spotlight Country Programme In The Kyrgyz Republic

Programme start date: 01 January 2020 Reporting period: 01 January 2020 – 31 December 2020

Initiated by the European Union and the United Nations:







Programme Title & Programme Number

Programme Title: Spotlight Initiative Kyrgyzstan

MPTF Office Project Reference Number:¹ 00119461

Recipient Organization(s)

UN Women, UNDP, UNICEF, UNFPA, UNODC

Programme Cost (US\$)

Total Phase I approved budget as per the Spotlight CPD/RPD: 5,396,071 USD

Phase I Spotlight funding:² 4,700,000 USD

Agency Contribution: 696,071 USD

Spotlight Funding and Agency Contribution by Agency:

Name of RUNO	Spotlight Phase I (USD)	UN Agency Contributions (USD)
UN Women	1,261,996	84,120
UNDP	1,181,114	120,248
UNFPA	901,529	174,504
UNICEF	1,078,910	228,282
UNODC	276,451	88,918
TOTAL:		5,396,071

Priority regions/areas/localities for the programme

12 target municipalities from 6 districts located in 3 provinces

Key Partners

General Prosecutor's Office of the Kyrgyz Republic Ministry of the Internal Affairs of the Kyrgyz Republic Ministry of Labour and Social Development of the Kyrgyz Republic, Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic, National Statistics Committee, Ministry of Education and Science, Ministry of Culture and Tourism. Local and national CSOs, international NGOs

Programme Start and End Dates

Start Date: 01.01.2020

End Date: 31.12.2022

Report Submitted By:

Samara Papieva, Spotlight Initiative Programme Coordinator, RCO

¹ The Multi-Partner Trust Fund (MPTF) Office Project Reference Number is the same number as the one on the Notification message. It is also referred to as "Project ID" on the project's factsheet page the MPTF Office GATEWAY.

² The Spotlight Contribution refers to the amount transferred to the Recipient UN Organizations, which is available on the MPTF Office GATEWAY.

Table of Contents

Acronym List
Executive Summary
Contextual Shifts and Implementation Status8
Programme Governance and Coordination 11
a) National Steering Committee11
b) Civil Society National Reference Group (CSNRG)11
c) Inter-agency coordination, technical committees and other governance mechanisms
Programme Partnerships 13
a) Government
<i>b</i>) <i>Civil Society</i>
c) <i>EU</i>
d) Other Partners
Results
a) Capturing Broader Transformations Across Outcomes
b) Capturing Change at Outcome Level 18
Outcome 1: Legal and Policy Framework 18
Outcome 2: Institutions
Outcome 3: Prevention and Norm Change
Outcome 4: Quality Services 25
Outcome 5: Data
Outcome 6: Women's Movement 27
Rights Holders ("Beneficiaries")
Challenges and Mitigating Measures
Lessons Learned and New Opportunities
Innovation, Promising or Good Practices
Communications and Visibility
Next Steps
Annexes list

Acronym List

ACRC	Aigine Cultural Research Center		
BoS	"Bus of Solidarity"		
CPC	Criminal Procedure Code of the Kyrgyz Republic		
CSIRG	Civil Society Interim Reference Group		
CSNRG	Civil Society National Reference Group		
CSO	Civil Society Organization		
DRCU	Essential Services Package		
ESP	Eurasia Foundation of Central Asia - Tajikistan		
EU	European Union		
EVAW	Ending Violence Against Women		
ERPP	Unified Registry of Crimes and Misdemeanors		
GALS	Gender Action Learning System		
GES	Gender Equality Strategy of Kyrgyz Republic 2021-2030		
GPO	General Prosecutor's Office of the Kyrgyz Republic		
GTWG	Government Technical Working Group		
GTG	UN Gender Theme Group		
GBV	Gender-Based Violence		
IMAGES	International Men and Gender Equality Survey		
IMWG	Inter-Ministerial Working Group of the MLSD		
IP	Implementing Partner		
KM	Knowledge Management		
LCPDVs	Local committees on the prevention of domestic violence		
LoA	Letter of Agreement		
ME	Ministry of the Economy		
MIA	Ministry of the Internal Affairs of the Kyrgyz Republic		
MLSD	Ministry of Labour and Social Development of the Kyrgyz Republic		
MoJ	Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic		
MoES	Ministry of Education and Science		
MP	Member of Parliament		

- M&E Monitoring and Evaluation
- MSR Multisectoral approach mechanisms
- NSC National Statistics Committee
- HP Harmful Practices
- **OSPA** Oxford Scenario Planning Approach
- **OVPM** Office of the Vice Prime Minister
 - PCU Programme Coordination Unit
- **RUNO** Recipient United Nations Organisation
 - **RTTI** Republican Teacher Training Institute
 - SI Spotlight Initiative Kyrgyzstan Country Programme
- SGBV Sexual and gender-based violence
- SGLA Law on State-Guaranteed Legal Aid
 - **UN** United Nations
- **UNDP** United Nations Development Programme
- **UNFPA** United Nations Populations Fund
- UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund
- **UNODC** United Nations Office for Drugs and Crime
- **UN RC** United Nations Resident Coordinator
- UN Women United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and Empowerment of Women
 - **USP** Union of Social Pedagogues
 - VPM Vice-Prime-Minister
 - WGR Women's and Girls' Rights

Executive Summary

This report presents key achievements of the Spotlight Initiative Kyrgyzstan Country Programme (SI Programme) in 2020, highlighting successes in programmatic efforts, stakeholder engagement and partnerships, communications, and the application of innovative methods to eliminate all forms of violence against women and girls in the Kyrgyz Republic. The report additionally reflects on lessons learned, possible opportunities for the future, and the broader contextual shifts that have affected programming over the past year.

Over the reporting period, the Covid-19 pandemic wrought dramatic changes in the Kyrgyz Republic, exacerbating women's and girl's vulnerability to violence and precipitating political, economic, and social instability. Indeed, this instability came to a head with protests following the results of Parliamentary elections in October 2020, which resulted in the resignation of the President and reorganization of the Government, with serious implications for SI Programme implementation slowing down some activities. Within this rapidly evolving context, the SI Programme team switched to remote work requiring significant adaptation, and had to re-evaluate program activities to continue achieving gender-transformative results across different spheres of society, engaging with a wide range of stakeholders and partners, and coordinating across the five UN Agencies working as direct implementing RUNOs as well as the UN RC Office.

Despite these challenges, the implementation in all six SI Programme pillars is on track. The Spotlight Initiative team and its partners made a concerted effort to accelerate implementation, adjust its programming to emerging needs resulting from COVID-19, and to establish the preconditions necessary to achieve gender-transformative results. The Programme was instrumental in supporting the Government to develop a multi-sectoral response to sexual and gender-based violence, and to organize the national response to the dramatic rise in domestic violence during the Covid-19 lockdown. These response measures included enhancing the quality of online support and hotline services for GBV survivors, creating safe spaces for women and girls, and establishing rapidresponse mobile groups to respond to reported GBV cases. The Spotlight Initiative additionally supported women's rights organizations to amend the Criminal Procedure Code (CPC), putting in place provisions for domestic violence offenders to be detained for up to 48 hours. The adopted amendments have become essential in the conditions of lockdown, when many women and girls remained in compelled isolation with the aggressors, as they improved protection of the survivors of domestic violence ensuring that victims have the necessary time to plan for their safety.

This has been essential given the rise in domestic violence just as more women and girls are confined to their homes due to quarantine measures. An overarching review of legislative and policy frameworks to address VAWG has been launched. The review will contribute to identifying legal inconsistencies, loopholes and discriminatory provisions related to gender equality, child marriage, and VAWG, thereby facilitating legislative changes and improving legal protections that ensure the safety of women and girls. To improve oversight of these VAWG-related legislative changes, a permanent Council on Women's Rights and the Prevention of Gender-Based Violence was established, thanks to extensive lobbying by the SI team and its partners.

To further improve the quality, accuracy, and availability of data on violence against women and girls (Pillar 5), the SI Programme team supported the General Prosecutor's Office to upgrade existing data-collection systems and thereby enable them to meet minimum requirements for sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV) indicators as developed by the UN Statistical Commission.

In one of the most innovative practices to be implemented during the SI Programme's 2020 work, new tools such as adaptive leadership, positive deviance, and the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach (OSPA)³ were integrating into the process of drafting the Gender Equality Strategy of the Kyrgyz Republic for 2021-2030. OSPA created space for key Government leaders and experts to engage in strategic conversations around the subject of gender equality and on the factors and scenarios that may affect the implementation of the GES going forward. More information on this practice may be found in Annex D.

Moreover, in 2020 the SI Programme Team dedicated significant time and efforts to building strong relationships with programme partners and stakeholders, especially with EUD in order to ensure responsive, accountable, and comprehensive programming.

Finally, in 2020 the SI Programme Team made significant strides in adapting to the new way of working in the spirit of UN Reform, under the leadership of the UN Resident Coordinator (RC).

Overall and specific objectives

Overall and Specific objectives of the programme:

The goal of **Spotlight Initiative** is for all women and girls, particularly those most vulnerable, to live a life free of violence and harmful practices, including child marriage.

It is built around **six pillars** developed after an extensive global theory of change exercise.

³ The Oxford Scenario Planning approach is based on plausibility. By recognizing the part of uncertainty that is unpredictable and by actively exploring the sources of the turbulence and uncertainty, the goal is to iteratively and interactively generate new knowledge and insights to help organizations reperceive their circumstances. During periods of turbulence, unpredictable uncertainty, novelty, and ambiguity (what the Oxford scenario planning approach refers to as TUNA conditions), organizations frequently experience serious challenges that threaten existing values, communities, and even whole fields of endeavor. Such conditions can be unsettling and destabilizing on many different levels. But they also present opportunities for organizations to reframe their strategies and innovate.

Outcomes by six pillars:

Outcome 1: Legislative and policy frameworks in line with international human rights standards on VAWG and harmful practices are in place and translated into action.

Outcome 2: National and sub-national systems and institutions plan, fund and deliver evidencebased programmes that prevent and respond to SGBV and harmful practices, including in other sectors

Outcome 3: Gender equitable social norms, attitudes and behaviours change at community and individual levels to prevent SGBV/HP

Outcome 4: Women and girls who experience SGBV and harmful practices use available, accessible, acceptable, and quality essential services including for long term recovery from violence

Outcome 5: Quality, disaggregated and globally comparable data on different forms of violence against women and girls and harmful practices, collected, analysed and used in line with international standards to inform laws, policies and programmes

Outcome 6: Women's rights groups, autonomous social movements and relevant CSOs, including those representing youth and groups facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination/ marginalization, more effectively influence and advance progress on GEWE and ending SGBV

Contextual Shifts and Implementation Status

Over the reporting period, the Kyrgyz Republic experienced widespread social unrest, a political uprising, and a stalling economy, all of which was exacerbated by the Covid-19 pandemic and related health measures. These events, and the uncertainty and turmoil they wrought, constituted major contextual shifts that have had resounding repercussions for the SI Programme. Domestic and gender-based violence surged, with a 62% rise in the number of domestic violence cases reported by the Ministry of Internal Affairs in the first quarter of 2020 over that of 2019, while overall some 8,337 cases of domestic violence were recorded from 1 January to 1 December 2020, a 12% increase from the same 11-month period in 2019. Meanwhile, key government counterparts were lost first to Covid-19, with one of the main gender experts at the Ministry of Labour and Social Development (MLSD) succumbing to the disease, and second to the political turmoil. Moreover, all high-level executive positions were vacated in the wake of the overthrow of government in October 2020, which required the SI Programme to restart the process of engaging government counterparts on the Spotlight Initiative's work. SI Programme leadership, technical team members, implementing partners, and their counterparts across the country have

all worked tirelessly to overcome these obstacles, which has contributed to a smooth launch of Programme activities despite the challenging context.

The year 2020 began with Members of Parliament debating on a so-called 'foreign-agent' law to severely restrict the activities of civil-society organizations that receive donations from foreign entities. Ultimately, it was voted down on its second hearing (by 65 of 111 MPs who participated), but only under significant pressure from civil society organizations and international development actors. The UN RC and EU Ambassador in the Kyrgyz Republic, for example, had conveyed their official stance on the draft law in-person to the responsible parliamentary committee, urging MPs to ensure non-discrimination and compliance with Kyrgyzstan's human rights obligations.

Against the backdrop of public debates on the 'foreign-agent' law, groups of masked men attacked women's and LGBTQ rights activists who were holding peaceful demonstrations in Bishkek, the capital city, in honour of International Women's Day on March 8, 2020. Videos of the subsequent police response showed numerous peaceful activists being beaten and taken away, some of the masked men instructing the police on whom to arrest, and those who incited the violence walking free. Ultimately, six female activists were charged with administrative fines while no investigation was conducted into the police response or the identities of the masked men. Both this incident and the support for the 'foreign-agent' law by certain groups constituted troubling reminders of the risks to the SI Programme's civil society partners and continued backlash against the women's rights movement.

On March 18, 2020, the first case of Covid-19 was reported in Kyrgyzstan, and the government declared a state of emergency starting on March 24, 2020. The resultant stay-at-home orders, suspension of public transport, and shutdown of crisis centres hindered VAWG survivors' ability to access support including first aid, justice, health care, psycho-social care, and social protection. Women's rights organizations reported a marked increase in calls to helplines from women seeking psychological and humanitarian aid. As already noted, 2020 saw a 12% increase in DV over 2019, a figure that may not capture the full extent of the increase given the inadequate police and judicial response, limited services such as shelters, and survivors' greater challenges in escaping both their abusers and the social pressure to remain with them while schools and workplaces are closed.

In response, the SI team undertook a number of interventions as part of its COVID-19 Response Plan in close collaboration with national partners, development partners, and civil society organizations. A Rapid Gender Assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on women and men, including on vulnerable groups, was conducted jointly with CSO partners. The findings from this assessment were used to inform SI programming in order to ensure activities were carried out in keeping with the principle of "leaving no one behind." The SI team also shared these findings with the Vice-Prime-Minister (VPM) and members of selected line ministries, resulting in collaboration with the MLSD and civil society organizations to develop, introduce, and endorse multisector approach mechanisms (MSR) to SGBV in emergency situations, improve the quality of online support and hotline services for GBV survivors, create safe spaces for women and girls, and establish rapid response mobile groups for GBV cases. SI additionally supported women's rights organizations in developing amendments to the Criminal Procedure Code (CPC) for a 48-hour detainment of perpetrators of domestic violence, which has become essential given the spike in DV, coupled with the high number of people quarantining at home. The adopted amendments have become essential in the conditions of lockdown, when many women and girls remained in compelled isolation with the aggressors, as they improved protection of the survivors of domestic violence ensuring that victims have the necessary time to plan for their safety and seek support from qualified service providers. The SI team consulted with the EUD in Bishkek throughout the process of elaborating its COVID-19 Response Plan, and the EUD offered valuable inputs in ensuring the response was targeted, in high-quality, and keeping with the Spotlight Initiative's Theory of Change.

On October 4, 2020, Kyrgyzstan held parliamentary elections that resulted in mass protests, as citizens voiced their opposition to what they saw as corrupt results favouring incumbent parties. The post-election protests soon escalated to violent confrontations, notably experienced not only in the capital but in other parts of the country, with female (and male) politicians of all levels reporting threats, violence, and harassment. In response to this situation, the Central Election Commission annulled the election results, the previous Parliament was re-installed in a caretaker role, the President resigned, and a new Acting President was voted into office by the caretaker MPs. National elections and a referendum are to be held in January 2021 that will generate an entirely new cadre of ministers and cabinet members. These events have considerably slowed SI program implementation and undermined national stakeholders' engagement, shifting the timeline of some activities. For instance, all activities to build the capacity of Parliament members are now postponed to mid-2021, after parliamentary elections are held, while the process of elaborating a Gender Equality Strategy of the Kyrgyz Republic was rescheduled twice due to political unrest and cabinet reshuffling.

Despite these challenges, implementation in all six pillars is on track, thanks to extensive coordination across RUNOs and with partners. The Spotlight Initiative team and partners made a concerted effort to accelerate implementation, including through joint reflection on "Pathways of change",⁴ finding possible avenues for reinforcing cross-pillar coherence, and requiring follow-up actions and close work with technical staff of partner institutions.

^{4 &}quot;Pathways of Change" - series of online discussions to reflect on issues to be addressed, intermediate results, indicators of success, and unpacking of key concepts. The overarching goal was to come to a shared understanding by discussing the details of Programme interventions, thereby better understanding of each RUNO's activities and interlinkages within and across pillars.

Programme Governance and Coordination

a) National Steering Committee

The National Steering Committee (NSC) was formed in March 2020 in close collaboration with Office of the Vice-Prime-Minister (VPM). Its original membership consisted of 26 individuals (representatives of Parliament, deputy ministers/directors, representatives from UN, EUD, media and civil society organizations), co-chaired by the Vice-Prime-Minister of the Kyrgyz Republic for Social Issues and the UN RC. Civil society represented at least 20% of the NSC's membership. Due to COVID-19 limitations, the first meeting of NSC was replaced by an online questionnaire, conducted over March and April 2020, containing questions on draft Terms of Reference (ToR) for the NSC, a draft Joint Work Plan for 2020 to 2021, and geographic targeting of program interventions. The overarching responsibilities agreed upon were in-line with the standard ToR, but unfortunately did not result into practical engagement due first to challenges related to Covid-19 (which surged in Kyrgyzstan in June and July, 2020, precisely when NSC members may have been re-convened) and then due to the political turmoil that took hold of the country in the fall. As a result, no in-person NSC meetings were held in 2020.

The political unrest and turnover that resulted from the elections – described in the previous section – resulted in the loss of numerous members of the initial NSC, including the VPM and deputy ministers. Given that government reform and reorganization is still ongoing, a second iteration of the NSC has yet to be formed, as key partner positions are still unfilled. That said, SI Programme leadership is maintaining close contacts with national counterparts and intending to revise the list of NSC members, with the goal of convening a new NSC session by April 2021.

b) Civil Society National Reference Group (CSNRG)

The Civil Society Interim Reference Group (CSIRG) was established in October 2019, during the programme development process. It was instrumental in providing advice, comments, and inputs during programme design and development and took part in several dedicated consultations organised by the programme team. For instance, the CSIRG members suggested considering the development of a comprehensive action learning program demonstrating an integrated criminal justice response to GBV cases with involving all relevant actors. This suggestion was further incorporated into the Country Programme Document (CPD). The group remained engaged during the programme kick-off stage by providing consultations on geographic targeting of the Programme.

Subsequently, the permanent Civil Society National Reference Group (CSNRG) was established in November 2020. As agreed with CSNRG members at the initial introductory session (one meeting in 2020), meetings are planned to be held on a regular bimonthly basis. At the same time, there is a common vision that the group's engagement should not be limited to regular meetings and, in pursuance of this, members are engaged in discussing and conceptualizing programme interventions (e.g. the media plan on Free Legal Aid/FLA campaign) and in providing comments and recommendations on research methodologies and reports (e.g. the methodology for the legal review and ethnographic review). One method that the SI team has used to ensure that CSNRG members are aware of the Programme's day-to-day priorities and how the group's mandate fits into implementation is to share monthly work plans indicating the CSNRG's role, a practice that has been in place since December 2020.

The CSNRG approved its work plan for January to June 2021, which consists of two parts: (1) overall coordination and monitoring, and (2) engagement in Programme components. A planning workshop/retreat will be organized in early 2021 with CSNRG members to deepen a shared understanding of the Programme, identify their expectations from the Programme and vice versa, and agree on working principles to ensure meaningful engagement and further details of plans. The approximate budget for the CSNRG was calculated and is to be included in the next budget revision for the SI programme.

Following guidance from the Global Secretariat, the CSNRG was formed through a competitive selection process. The advertisement and call for submissions for involvement were released in the 2020 summer, unfortunately during the peak of the COVID-19 crisis. Few applications were received, likely both because of the impact of Covid-19 and because EVAWG experts, being in high demand, are accustomed to being invited to such positions rather than requested to apply (and may have found the application process onerous). A second round of announcements were made in the autumn and several applications were received. Even with this additional advertisement, the number of applicants were limited. In spite of this, 12 CSNRG members were selected from among the applicants. The Programme still has to select 3 members to ensure an LNOB approach (particularly be securing representation from more grassroots organizations, youth and LGBTQ organizations), which will be done in early 2021. Currently, CSNRG consists of 12 members – 1 male and 11 female - who represent human rights organizations, women-led NGOs working on community empowerment and EVAWG, national NGOs working on EVAWG, crisis centres, and NGOs focusing on issues of elderly, among others. By ensuring an inclusive CSNRG membership, the SI team will improve the Programme's reach, responsiveness and accountability to rights holders. Moreover, the CSNRG will be critical in allowing the SI programme to better engage with national and grassroots partners, including feminist and women's rights organizations moving forward.

c) Inter-agency coordination, technical committees and other governance mechanisms

The Programme has tapped into both the internal UN Gender Theme Group (GTG) and extended GTG consisting of donors and organizations that contribute to or have projects that promote

gender equality. SI leadership has kept GTG members updated on programme plans during monthly joint meetings. Moreover, during the preparation for the 16 Days of Activism against Gender-Based Violence (16 Days Campaign), the SI Programme team played a coordinating role in drafting and presenting a joint contextualized concept note and action plan both to the internal and extended GTG platforms, helping to coordinate overall efforts and mobilize funding to cover the costs of some initiatives by the UNITE Women's Network. Finally, the SI Programme has effectively collaborated with the UN communication group while conceptualizing and developing key messages focusing on behaviour change communication. Thus, SI Programme has benefitted from this engagement by gaining increased visibility (details described in communication part of the report) and identifying new joint efforts, for instance with the Swiss Embassy on 16-Days Activism Against GBV.

Additionally, in 2020, the SI team implemented several mechanisms and practices to operationalize the new way of working under UN Reform. Substance-wise coordination and coherence has been increased through series of 'Pathways of change' talks where teams have identified not only intra-pillar linkages but also across pillars. Examples of operation collaboration include a jointtendering process that was organized (by UNDP, UNFPA, and UNODC) on conducting a holistic review of VAWG/GBV legislation. Another example of such collaboration was in the design of a simple application process to select partners for community-level work on C4D, with the goal of facilitating engagement with civil society. The simplified application templates generated by the team were used and distributed through email lists, and based on the applications, two CSOs were invited to attend a workshop on C4D during which they developed C4D roadmaps and a joint work plan to address social norms supporting VAWG and the practice of child marriages in particular.

Programme Partnerships

a) Government

The SI programme has closely collaborated with the Office of the Vice Prime Minister (OVPM), the highest Government institution dealing with the issues of gender and VAWG, to ensure national ownership of the Programme. The OVPM provided support in setting up the National Steering Committee in the spring of 2020, reviving the National Gender Council by extending its membership to include civil society activists, and organizing a meeting with representatives from relevant ministries to hear the results of the Rapid Gender Assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on women and men. This assessment informed the prompt measures plan of the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic on prevention of domestic violence during COVID-19 lockdown.

Challenges were experienced in working with the OVPM, on the one hand due to COVID-19, which significantly increased the workload of Government partners and caused widespread illness among key personnel, and on the other, due to the high turnover experienced in the OVPM (as in all of Kyrgyzstan's highest executive offices over 2020). The VPM was replaced twice in 2020, meaning that the SI Programme needed to re-establish contact and collaboration and handle with the lack of institutional memory. SI Programme continuously informed new leadership on the Programme progress and plans by holding presentations and brief updates.

Additionally, the Ministry of Labour and Social Development (MLSD), which is mandated with overseeing Kyrgyzstan's gender and EVAWG responses, has been a key partner. This Ministry played a lead role in convening and drafting the new Gender Equality Strategy of Kyrgyz Republic 2021-2030 (GES) and initiating a multi-sectoral response (MSR) to EVAWG. Under the leadership of MLSD, separate inter-ministerial working groups were created to develop the GES and MSR, involving more than 16 lines ministries, government agency⁵ and province and city administrations in these processes. Finally, the Programme worked closely with the MLSD on its efforts to respond to the rising number of GBV incidents, and particularly to provide emergency support services.

b) Civil Society

In 2020, the SI Programme worked with more than fifteen civil society organizations, of which five are grassroots organizations (or have branches at the grassroots level) and five are organizations focused on EVAWG, GEWE and women's rights. Local CSOs are engaged as Implementing Partners in conducting a legislative review (Pillar 1), publicly monitoring legislative implementation (Pillar 1), mapping traditionalist groups (Pillar 3), reviewing and analysing judicial cases of child marriages (Pillar 3), developing an interactive game that challenges bride kidnapping (Pillar 3), designing and implementing advocacy campaigns at the national level (Pillar 3), working with the media (Pillar 3), mapping GBV services (Pillar 4), and providing support to women and girls who are GBV survivors during the COVID-19 lockdown (Pillar 4). Three organizations – two international companies (NormannPartners, WIN) and a national CSO – are working closely to apply the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach (OSPA) to elaborate the Gender Equality Strategy (GES) under the direct leadership of the Inter-Ministerial Working Group (IMWG) of the MLSD. Another area of joint work of an international company (EuroPlus) and a national CSOs is in conducting a gender assessment of justice and law enforcement institutions. Meanwhile, the SI programme worked to ensure that the principle of "Leaving No One Behind" crosscuts different implementation areas. For instance, the mapping of GBV services took into account the perspectives of GBV survivors

⁵ Ministry of Health, Ministry of Education and Science, Ministry of Economy, Ministry of Finance, Ministry on emergency situations, Defense Ministry, Ministry of Interiors, Ministry of culture, information and tourism, food industry and melioration, Ombudsmen Institute, Ministry of Justice, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, State Personnel Service, State commission on Religious Affairs, State Agency on Local Self-Government and Interethnic Relations, National Statistics Committee

from different backgrounds, and the process of GES elaboration is inclusive with the participation of diverse organizations. It is expected that the mapping will increase understanding of the critical gaps in service provision as well as raise sensitivity of service providers on intersecting forms of discrimination and violence against women and girls usually left behind.

The SI Programme works to ensure meaningful partnerships with CSO partners in two core ways, engaging them (1) across pillars to reinforce cooperation and information-exchange on crosscutting themes, and (2) in the conceptualization of activities from start to implementation, giving them space for more meaningful participation and leveraging their on-the-ground expertise to generate well-adapted and grounded activities. For example, the experience and data accumulated by one IP during its mapping of services (Pillar 4) was applied in the design and implementation of the legislative and policy review (Pillar 1). This practice gives our partners a broader vision and deeper understanding of the Programme and their role in it. The SI team will work to further expand these practices and strengthen coherence and coordination across different IPs' activities to enable more meaningful engagement of CSOs.

The SI programme's work with civil society is critical to its goal of achieving sustainability for EVAWG efforts in the country. Moreover, the engagement of civil society has ensured that programming responds to the changing needs on the ground throughout Kyrgyzstan. For example, CSOs engaged in Gender Equality Strategy process helped to bridge the gap between policy and practice by linking Inter-Governmental Working Group with regional actors representing broader CSOs (also performing consolidating role); CSOs engaged in service mapping ensured access to survivors of S/GBV (usually they avoid interviews both from security and public pressure concerns); CSOs working at the grassroots level and being keenly aware of the cultural context and the specific needs of local women and girls proposed adjustments of ethnographic review methodology.

c) EU

Throughout 2020, the SI team collaborated closely with the EU Delegation, who acted as an essential programme partner in sharing technical expertise, supporting high-level decision-making, and meaningfully engaging national stakeholders. The SI team and EU Delegation collaborated on strategic programmatic discussions, especially when reflecting on adjustments needed to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. The UN RC and Heads of RUNOs held strategic and high-level communications with the EU Delegation, as well as more frequent progress check-in meetings across technical teams.

The EU Delegation was regularly invited both to high- and technical-level meetings organized by the SI Programme team, such as sessions with the Vice Prime Minister, meetings of the National

Council on Women's Issues and Gender Development, and meetings of the Civil Society National Reference Group (CSNRG) with the participation of SI Technical Team.

Beyond their participation in formal meetings and events, EU Delegation colleagues were engaged in discussing strategic documents produced within the Programme via online communication, providing feedback and suggestions to improve the quality of products. Moreover, there have been cases where the SI Programme team coordinated with other EU funded programmes, for instance with the Rule of Law Programme⁶ on the improving the availability of SGBV data and providing free legal aid to SGBV survivors. This collaboration allowed the SI Programme to create synergies with existing work in the country and avoid duplication of efforts to maximize the impact on women and girls.

Additionally, the Programme will leverage the results of UN Women's the European Instrument for Democracy and Human Rights (EIDHR)-funded project⁷ to develop and integrate new implementation strategies. This project successfully tested different approaches such as community e-monitoring, virtual communication with adolescents, community videoblogging, and inter-generational communication, which will be replicated within and beyond the Gender Action Learning System (GALS)⁸ framework. In target communities that both participated in the UN Women–EIDHR project and are now part of the SI, GALS champions will play the role of positive deviants and will be instrumental both acting as role models and engaging in peer-to-peer exchange.

d) Other Partners

A Letter of Agreement (LoA) was signed with the Ukuk State Enterprise (SE "Ukuk"), solely mandated by the General Prosecutor's Office (GPO) to modernize the Unified Register of Crimes and Misdemeanours (ERPP), developed by the EU funded Rule of Law programme (see above). Under this LoA, SE "Ukuk" is responsible for the development and integration of new functions that allow for streamlined collection and analysis of SGBV data, meeting the minimum set of indicators established by the UN Statistical Commission.

⁶ ACA/2018/396-673 (EC) "The Rule of Law Programme in the Kyrgyz Republic – 2nd phase (ROLPRO 2)"

⁷ EIDHR project n. 2017 / 393-561"Across Generation and Gender Borders - Communities Combatting Gender-Based Violence in Kyrgyzstan implemented by a consortium led by UN Women between January 2018 and August 2020.

⁸ Gender Action Learning System (GALS) is a community-led empowerment methodology that uses principles of inclusion to improve the quality of life of rural people in a gender-equitable way. It positions women and men as drivers of their own development rather than victims, identifying and dismantling obstacles in their environment, challenging service providers and private actors. It has proven to be effective for changing gender inequalities that have existed for generations, strengthening negotiation power of marginalized stakeholders and promoting collaboration, equity and respect between value chain actors.

Capturing Broader Transformations Across Outcomes

As the COVID-19 pandemic caused an outbreak of violence against women and girls, the Programme team invested tremendous efforts in elevating these issues to different strategic platforms. In the Parliament strategic conversations resulted in legislative amendments (48-hour detainment of the perpetrators) and creation of a Gender Council as a platform for public to voice their EVAWG concerns. At the urgent meeting of the National Gender Council under the Government chaired by the Vice Prime Minister Programme representatives appealed to GC members to shift the issue of violence from one of social protection into the nation's security agenda and contributed to plan of immediate actions to respond to acute cases of violence. The programme has also provided a platform for UNITE civil society network to coordinate response across all network and partners.

The nation's COVID response plan has been effectively built into its already existing Disaster Response Platform, which has advanced response systems in place as the country is prone to disaster risks. However, this pandemic uncovered gaps in the state's service-provision sector, creating a shift in stakeholders' attitudes and providing an impetus for them to voice their needs for knowledge and training, resources and equipment. Civil society, the Government, and the general public began to view emergencies from a new angle, seeing (and experiencing first-hand) how the virus and related lockdown measures were a natural and societal disaster, trapping people in their houses and putting them at risk to both their health and their lives, whether in their houses (where risks of violence increased) or outside (where risks of viral exposure were heightened). Meanwhile, the bodies responsible for supporting SGBV survivors (the MLSD, Ministry of Interior, and crisis centres) were unable to provide the support needed due to a lack of knowledge, information, and resources. The Spotlight Initiative was well-positioned to fill these gaps, due to its capabilities in accessing solutions and expertise and it's relatively streamlined bureaucracy for procuring resources. The MLSD and its new SGBV department identified needs for the development of proper response mechanisms such as its new hotline service, evaluation, and development of the SGBV response plan for 2021-2025 and the National Gender Strategy 2021-2025. The same ministry identified needs in enhancing service provision and building the capacity of its staff to prevent and respond to SGBV. This change in attitudes and beliefs happened when decision makers found themselves, relatives, and friends in hospitals, or reading and observing cases of violence and suicide, or becoming members of oversight bodies (for example, the Vice Prime Minister actively engaged in the development, implementation and monitoring of the Plan of Prompt Measures against SGBV cases) over the domestic violence cases. Additionally, the Programme organized shelters in Bishkek and Osh to serve the surge in VAWG survivors and their children, going above and beyond foreseen SI outcome results.

Uncertainties caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and the nation's political crisis challenged both the UN and national partners to re-visit and re-think earlier applied strategies. Therefore, innovative and transformative methodologies and tools such as adaptive leadership, positive deviance, and the Oxford Scenario Planning offered by the Programme have been well accepted by the government counterparts and the expert community engaged in drafting the new Gender Strategy.

In light of the above challenges, the Spotlight programme acted in a more coherent and coordinated manner when addressing pressing country needs and demands. In particular, the Programme quickly mobilized and repurposed around USD 200,000 to adapt interventions and support response plans of both the Government and civil society actors to address violence against women and girls in the context of the pandemic, while ensuring that interventions remained aligned with and contributed to the Spotlight Initiative's objectives. While planning and implementing interventions as one UN, the Programme incorporated the views of diverse stakeholders in its decision-making processes and based on the findings of the Rapid Gender Assessment, which was built on the 'Leave No One Behind' principle.

Responding to broader contextual transformations has required continually better coordination and leadership from the Programme team. The team has made initial steps in this direction by mobilizing and uniting efforts when representing and positioning the Programme at high-level strategic meetings, facilitating CSO conversations to better coordinate and complement their responses, and by providing expertise and policy advice to national stakeholders. Efforts to further strengthen team coordination continue through online 'Pathways of Change' discussions, inter- and intra-pillar talks, and work to build the TEAM around a shared goal and strategic vision.

Capturing Change at Outcome Level

Outcome 1: Legal and Policy Framework

Thus far, the SI Programme has worked to improve legal-regulatory frameworks in three core initiatives: by conducting research to better understand the existing issues and gaps in VAWG-related legislation (and to centre the perspectives of VAWG survivors in that research), by supporting the process of improving existing laws and by-laws – as well as filling in regulatory gaps – by generating guidance and policy documents, and by lobbying for effective institutional structures to better implement these new legal frameworks.

Under the first initiative, an overarching review of legislative and policy frameworks to address VAWG has been launched. The review will contribute to identifying legal inconsistencies, loopholes and discriminatory provisions related to gender equality, child marriage, and VAWG, thereby facilitating legislative changes and improving legal protections that ensure the safety of women and girls. Consultation tools (surveys and focus group discussion guides) were developed to meaningfully engage survivors in this legislative review and will be rolled out in the next SI Programme phase. The tools are intended to facilitate the incorporation of survivor viewpoints and perspectives, and particularly to leverage their insights on existing bottlenecks in EVAWG protections and procedures at the community level to ensure that new policies are more effective on the ground. Moreover, a review and analysis of judicial practices on child marriages, and specifically implementation of article 155 of Criminal Code of the Kyrgyz Republic, has been launched to analyse the reasons that cases are closed and to develop recommendations for all stakeholders to better protect girls. The primary objective of this initiative is to strengthen legislative and policy frameworks in order to produce proactive plans to eliminate violence against women and girls.

Due to the COVID, the programme had to switch to remote data collection, which imposed certain limitations to the research team, especially when it related to reaching out to groups facing multiple forms of discrimination. To alleviate this challenge, the team collaborated with women's CSOs working with such groups for using their established channels of communication for greater outreach.

Under the second initiative, the SI Programme team and its CSO partners have provided support and direction for improvements in the legal and policy framework, particularly on legislation relating to domestic violence, alimony, free legal aid, and the prevention of sexual harassment in the workplace:

In April 2020, Parliament adopted amendments to the Criminal Procedure Code (CPC) due to joint efforts of the SI Programme and partners (Forum of Women, Members of the Parliament and the OSCE); these were then signed by the President in early June 2020. Notably, the new CPC Article 504 has been supplemented with the additional provisions for detaining alleged perpetrators of domestic violence up to 48 hours⁹. A parliamentary working group under the Committee on Public Order, Counter-Crime and Corruption (the so-called Rule of Law Committee), was established in January 2020, to develop effective measures to increase protection against domestic violence and mechanisms for its implementation. The Committee comprised 14 experts, including a gender specialist from the Spotlight Initiative team, and has promoted the revision of the Criminal Procedures Code to strengthen safety of and protection mechanisms for survivors of sexual and gender-based violence;

⁶ http://cbd.minjust.gov.kg/act/view/ru-ru/111530

- Beginning in January 2020, the SI team provided technical support to Parliament on amending the law on alimony, including by supporting public debates between MPs, civil society and legal experts. These amendments were signed into law by the President in August 2020 and entered into force in September 2020. The law strengthens the rights of women to receive alimony and enforcement mechanisms in cases of non-payment, contributing to greater gender equality through improved family rights;
- The SI Programme team additionally provided technical assistance to amend the Law on State-Guaranteed Legal Aid (SGLA). In April 2020, the draft law was submitted to the Parliament and placed for public discussion, with a specific provision ensuring for the first time ever that state-funded free legal aid be also available for survivors of sexual and gender-based violence. Due to the political turmoil, the law hearings were postponed to 2021. The SI team is closely working with the group of bill initiators and women's CSOs to get the bill passed in the first half of 2021.
- Starting from October 2020, the SI Programme worked jointly with ILO to support women's rights organizations to develop a set of amendments in the Labour Code on combatting sexual harassment in the workplace. In December 2020, the draft law was developed along with a plan for a nationwide campaign to raise awareness of the ubiquity of workplace-based sexual harassment and its impact on the status of women in Kyrgyzstan. Elements of behaviour change communication have been integrated into these strategies, in conjunction with other pillars.
- Moreover, the SI Programme has supported the development of guidance and policy documents in key EVAWG areas. For example, the team has supported the drafting of a legal framework that envisages the establishment of a register of free legal aid lawyers qualified in providing services to girls and boys who have suffered violence and trauma. This system of free legal aid would provide children-victims of violence with the assistance of a lawyer who has the legal knowledge and skills, communication techniques, and psychological abilities to work with children victims of violence, including girls. The guidance is comprehensive in how it requires specialized assistance to children depending on their specific needs, including children with disabilities, children left behind by migrant parents, etc. To further institutionalize knowledge on the specifics of age- and gender-sensitive legal aid provision, the existing Guidelines have been updated with the inclusion of an additional module on the specifics of child-friendly legal aid to victims of violence, with a focus on girls. This additional module is pending approval by the Ministry of Justice.
- Finally, the SI team provided technical support to elaborate the new national Gender Equality Strategy for 2021 – 2030. The SI Programme has challenged the 'business as usual' approach by including adaptive, scenario-envisioning, and evidence-based strategizing to the planning process. Since the Ministry of the Economy (ME) sets the standards for national strategic documents, a separate presentation was organized for the ME on

the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach and its comparative advantage in situations of uncertainty, turbulence, novelty, and ambiguity. To make the process more participatory, the Programme advised the Inter-Ministerial Working Group (IMWG) to engage more national and local stakeholders and topical experts (on issues such as politics, religion, and cross-sectionality through a gender lens, e.g. gender and law enforcement). Though the official IMWG consists of 12 people, by the end of 2020 the group of those contributing to GES increased to 62 people representing more than 16 line ministries and agencies, province and city administrations, civil society organizations, gender experts, and the donor community.

Under the third initiative, the SI Programme team has additionally worked on establishing the institutional structures and procedures to more effectively implement the above-mentioned legal changes. As already mentioned, the so-called Rule of Law Committee was established in January 2020 to ensure effective implementation of new CPC provisions, including enhanced domestic violence protections. Additionally, in June 2020, the Speaker of the Parliament signed an order to officially establish a permanent Council on Women's Rights and the Prevention of Gender-Based Violence within the Parliament to work on women's rights and issues and VAWG within the national legislative and policy agenda. The Council, established after extensive lobbying by the SI Programme team and its partners, is tasked with ensuring communications between the Parliament and other stakeholders on women's rights and sexual and gender-based violence issues; developing proposals for legislative amendments; monitoring implementation of legislation in the area of gender equality, gender-based violence and discrimination; and representing the Parliament on these issues. The Council has become instrumental in providing civic engagement platforms for women's CSOs and individual activists in the discussion of laws on VAWG- and GEWE- related issues. The Council also accelerated the adoption of amendments to CPC and Alimony Law.

In sum, the efforts of the SI team and its core partners have thus far contributed to the amendment of four laws (those relating to domestic violence, alimony, state-guaranteed legal aid, and workplace sexual harassment), establishment of two new institutional structures for better implementation of these laws (the parliamentary Rule of Law Committee and permanent Council on Women's Rights and the Prevention of Gender-Based Violence within the Parliament), and ongoing development of two new guidance documents (on legal representation of child victims of violence and the national Gender Equality Strategy for 2021 – 2030). Perhaps just as meaningful as the eventual promulgation of these new laws and policies are the SI Programme team's efforts to change the processes and perspectives that underlie these legal frameworks, lobbying for the integration of the perspectives of survivors of GBV in legal-change efforts and encouraging the use of adaptive, evidence-based approaches in governmental policy planning.

Outcome 2: Institutions

When a drastic rise in GBV cases was observed after COVID-19-related restrictions came into force, the Programme team conducted a series of meetings to review the situation and understand how to adjust to the new context. A Rapid Gender Assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on women and men, including on vulnerable groups, was conducted jointly with national and CSO partners and presented to the Vice Prime Minister (VPM) and members of selected line ministries. As a result, the Programme team, national stakeholders, and the GBV sub-cluster of the UN Disaster Risk Coordination Unit jointly identified a number of interventions to enable a coordinated response by state institutions and crisis centres. One intervention, for example, has been to establish an interagency working group across the Ministry of Health, Ministry of the Interior, Ministry of Emergency Situations, General Staff, and Ministry of Education to develop a unified, multi-sectoral response (MSR) to SGBV in humanitarian settings, overcoming the lack of a pre-existing regulatory framework for coordinating the national-level institutional response to GBV during states of emergency. Additionally, three webinars were conducted for 111 Hotline operators and more than 40 representatives of key institutions (law enforcement agencies, psychologists, crisis centres, and CSOs) on a unified approach to working with SGBV survivors during the COVID-19 pandemic. These sessions covered applications of the Istanbul Protocol, communication with survivors, legal support, healthcare challenges, and psychosocial service support. Finally, the MLSD and its crisis headquarters were supported by three dedicated gender experts to mainstream gender issues into the government's social crisis response and communications.

Another activity currently being developed to increase the gender sensitivity of service providers is a participatory gender assessment of justice and law enforcement institutions (MIA/Police, Bar Association, GPO/Prosecution, the Supreme Court/Judiciary) and the development of action plans to deepen and improve their gender responsiveness. By addressing and reducing internal institutional barriers, the plans are being designed to improve the ability of institutions to address SGBV and deliver survivor-centred programmes. As of the reporting date, the assessment team has developed the methodology outlining key approaches and research tools, which will be further refined in consultation with technical-level focal points appointed by each of the selected institutions.

In coordination with other stakeholders, the Spotlight Initiative also launched work with the Police Academy to develop a mandatory police training programme in Kyrgyzstan, with the aim of enhancing institutional gender-sensitive and survivor-centred criminal justice practices. As of the reporting date, an Inter-Agency Working Group has been established and tasked to collectively design the outline of the mandatory training course. Members of the Inter-Agency Working Group will undertake a desk review of best practices available both regionally and globally and devise a road map for developing and institutionalizing this course as a mandatory part of the Police Academy curriculum.

In addition, the existing mobile application "My community police officer", which provides userfriendly and easily accessible communication between citizens and the police, was updated with new functions such as the ability to directly call available emergency hotlines to report violence.

Outcome 3: Prevention and Norm Change

Pillar three interventions are complex, involving multi-faceted work with a wide array of individuals and groups at the community level to promote gender-equitable social norms, attitudes and behaviours. Conducting such community-based VAWG prevention requires a deep understanding of the unique social fabric, channels of interaction, and power dynamics of each community, including identifying the 'positive deviants' and influencers specific to each. To that end, during the reporting period the SI team developed the methodology for and launched a so-called 'Ethnographic Review' (ER), a qualitative study that applies action learning research principles to actively involve community, three to four members are included as part of the research team and participants of the co-creation process. In the next stage of the research, those members will reach out to their broader communities to engage them in focus-group discussions. SI will continue working on the Ethnographic Review in 2021, using the results to inform Programme interventions and especially its implementation of the Gender Action Learning System (GALS) methodology and ensure these efforts are evidence-based, participatory, and in the spirit of "leaving no one behind."

The SI Programme aims to raise women's and girls' awareness of and capacity to exercise their rights, both by increasing their knowledge of existing legal aid mechanisms (such as the statefunded legal aid system coordinated by the Free Legal Aid Coordination Centre) and by expanding their access to justice via alternative mechanisms. One such mechanism is the "Bus of Solidarity" (BoS), a mobile legal services program run by the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) that brings lawyers to under-served communities across the country. Under the SI Programme, women's rights organizations and members of the CSNRG have been engaged to re-conceptualize and adapt the BoS program to the VAWG context. This has included developing a media plan (completed during the reporting period), adapting services to the VAWG context by, for example, prioritizing the confidentiality and security of survivors, and considering how to best access a wide range of women and girls, including those facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination and marginalization. The re-conceptualized BoS will be rolled out in the next reporting period, once lawyers and other experts involved in its work complete a series of trainings on key principles of service-provision to SGBV survivors and gender-transformative experiential learning sessions aimed at changing their individual gender beliefs and attitudes. These trainings will allow the SI Programme to maximize the impact of the BoS in supporting survivors of VAWG. Unexpected results are being achieved within this activity as it is expected that the BoS will contribute to the results planned under Pillar 2. Staff of ministries and agencies (Ministry of Justice, Bar Association, Training Centre for Lawyers) involved in the joint re-conceptualization of the BoS will undergo GALS trainings to improve their gender responsiveness, paving the way for institutional mind shift.

The SI Programme additionally works with adolescent girls and boys to educate them about their rights and influence their attitudes and behaviours toward 'ala kachuu', i.e. forced abduction for marriage. For example, a mobile game, "Spring in Bishkek," was co-funded by Sigrid Rausing Trust and Soros Foundation Kyrgyzstan under the SI Programme and uses C4D strategies to demonstrate alternative behaviour models for girls, boys, and adults. Players are asked to name the heroine, choose a pet, and personalize other features, while visuals of widely known public spaces in Kyrgyzstan are depicted, building a personal connection, self-identification, and empathy with the game characters, whose fates are ultimately decided by the players. These characters gradually change their perceptions, attitudes, and behaviours towards gender equality as the game progresses. "Spring in Bishkek" has quickly gained popularity, being downloaded more than 117,000 times from PlayMarket and iOS PlayStore with an average rating of 4.7 to 4.8. It is played across Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Russia, Ukraine, and in some other countries. Players have provided inspirational feedback on the game's social media accounts, while one case of 'ala kachuu' was reported by a player who approached the game's Instagram account for support. The two most frequently selected reasons among players as to why they are playing the game were: (1) because the game raises an important issue, and (2) because it contains useful information in the notes.

Activities were also developed to support school-aged girls and boys, all of whom were put at increased risk of violence by COVID-19 quarantine orders, concomitant school closures (which went into effect in April 2020), and the heightened stress of parents suffering from the economic and emotional fallout of the pandemic. In response to these challenges, the programme team built a partnership with the Union of Social Pedagogues (USP) to train these professionals on how to inform parents and school-age girls and boys on the existing Helpline for Children (111), and how to help girls and boys at risk of violence during the COVID-19 quarantine. The training reached 376 social pedagogues, i.e. schoolteachers tasked with taking care of at-risk children, and 18 district-level officials who oversee the work of these social pedagogues. The partnership demonstrated the great potential of social pedagogues to continue supporting children, including adolescent girls at risk of SGBV. A total of 11,616 children aged 7 to 14 (6,963 girls and 4,653 boys) have been reached by the trained social pedagogues. This is the total number with whom the teachers interacted. The Programme team also launched strategic discussions on the originally planned education activities with the Republican Teacher Training Institute (RTTI), agreeing with the RTTI Director to design, develop, and introduce a new online teacher training course (approx. 8 hours) on the prevention of SGBV in schools as part of a mandatory teacher training package, which all teachers must go through every five years. Finally, as part of the measures to prevent SGBV and violence against children, the Programme team and a local NGO developed materials for parents and caregivers on how to talk with children about sexual violence. The materials are in the process of testing and translation into the Kyrgyz language and will be widely disseminated after completion.

In addition, C4D interventions roadmap to change social norms touching on child marriage are being developed, with two CSOs selected during the reporting period to attend a three-week online course on C4D on child marriages. The participants acquired C4D knowledge to conduct a rapid participatory assessment with adolescents, parents, local leaders, social workers, juvenile inspectors, and others and developed an action plan on changing social norms regarding child marriage. The roadmap includes a comprehensive set of interventions at individual, interpersonal and community levels, which reinforce the positive changes at all levels, including changes in knowledge, attitudes and practices. The programme will also engage and build on the positive deviants and practices identified through ethnographic review in target communities.

The media is critical both in shaping and de-mystifying social norms and in coining new norms. To challenge business as usual, the Programme has explored a media self-assessment tool that was successfully implemented by the UN Women Moldova office. This tool was designed based on UNESCO materials and participatory peer-learning and reflection exercises. Following a series of consultations with the UNESCO regional office in Almaty, local media organizations were offered various training opportunities and, as a pre-bidding exercise, the Public Fund "Media Support Centre" (a local NGO) has been identified and contracted to contextualize this tool and processes to the Kyrgyzstani media environment.

Outcome 4: Quality Services

In-line with the Pillar 4 goal of making high-quality essential services more available to survivors of violence, the SI team launched a series of assessments to inform capacity-building and coordination-improving efforts with local service providers, engaged with legal service providers on SGBV-sensitization and the provision of pro bono representation, and began work on a case-management system to better coordinate services to children at risk of domestic violence.

To inform its work in target communities across the country, the SI Programme team worked to map key services and gaps; explore shortcomings in existing regulations, mechanisms, and practices; and gain a better understanding of the service context within each target community (and, by extension, the nation). The mapping covered 45 villages from SI target communities (almost all target villages under the SI Programme), using an online survey and virtual interviews with women and girls who have survived SGBV or face intersecting forms of violence and disability (these remote methods minimized the risk that participants and staff would be infected by Covid-19 as a result of their participation in the study and thus, while not ideal, were deemed to be necessary to a 'do no harm' approach). The research and analysis generated insights for improving the work of key local service providers – such as health workers, the police, and members of the justice and social support sectors – which will be used to further inform programming under Pillar 4. Notably, many service providers were negatively impacted by the political turmoil in wake of the October 4, 2020 parliamentary elections, with some key local officials dismissed and the delivery of needed resources either delayed or halted. These challenges impacted the research, making

it harder to contact and collaborate with local counterparts. At the same time, they underscore the necessity of such a mapping exercise and support for local SGBV service-providers, making the results of this research all the more relevant.

A second, closely linked, assessment is being conducted to inform the design and pilot of a "one-stop" crisis centre for victims of violence, in-line with global standards. Such a centre is intended to provide coordinated, integrated SGBV response services and to thereby reduce the risk of secondary victimization that can result from fragmented support. This second assessment thus entails additional analysis of the capacities of key service providers (healthcare workers, law enforcement officers, legal support providers, and psychosocial service providers), how they coordinate their SGBV services within their localities, and the opportunities, challenges, and financial considerations entailed by a one-stop crisis centre. Once completed, the results of this assessment will be shared with key government institutions such as the MLSD, Ministry of Internal Affairs (MIA), Forensic Service (FS), and others, to engage the government in piloting and supporting such a canter, thereby enhancing its sustainability.

Work was also conducted under the SI Programme to enhance the quality of legal services available to SGBV survivors. Along with the MoJ, women's rights organizations, and crisis centres, the SI team developed guidelines on standards of SGBV legal service delivery and considerations for lawyers who engage in this work. The guidelines were the basis of a 1-day training on SGBV service-delivery with over 120 lawyers and other experts involved in the work of the "Bus of Solidarity", the previously mentioned mobile legal services program. They will be printed and disseminated to localities across the country and promoted on social media. Meanwhile, a scope of work was finalized to engage private law firms and attorneys in providing pro bono legal services to SGBV survivors, and to create a referral mechanism such that those in need of representation (as well as service providers working on their behalf) can find these high-quality advocates in a simple, reliable way.

Finally, to establish more effective coordination and coverage of services provided to girls and boys, the SI Programme team began work on an integrated case management system to effectively identify children and families in difficult life situations and refer them for relevant services. The proposed database will improve the means of identifying girls and boys subjected to violence, and will identify cases of domestic violence through an assessment of their home environment. Child protection and family support plans will be drafted by respective units of the MLSD to meet the specific needs of children and families identified in this way.

Outcome 5: Data

During the reporting period, the Programme team worked with the General Prosecutor's Office (GPO) and the National Statistics Committee (NSC) to ensure that high-quality, disaggregated data is collected, properly analysed, and made available on key SGBV indicators. Specifically, support

was provided to the GPO to create an inter-agency working group and, together with independent experts, analyse the reporting forms and data that military and law-enforcement bodies submit on a regular basis (bi-annually and annually). Based on this analysis, the working group developed gender-disaggregated statistical forms on gender-related crimes and misdemeanours with disaggregated SGBV data to be included into the Unified Registry of Crimes and Misdemeanours (ERPP).¹⁰ To further enable gender-disaggregated data entry on SGBV crimes, the GPO and SE "Ukuk" are developing a so-called "victim card", which contains all relevant information on the SGBV survivor disaggregated by sex, age, education, marital status and other social characteristics. Completing the card will be a prerequisite for entering the crime into the registry, allowing for the collection of consistent, comparable and reliable data on SGBV. Following these activities, the Spotlight team conducted a series of technical consultations with the GPO and SE "Ukuk", resulting in a work plan to upgrade the Unified Registry of Crimes and Misdemeanours to better analyse and compile data on SGBV across the criminal justice chain. A number of consultations were held with leadership of the National Statistics Committee of the Kyrgyz Republic (NSC) to discuss SI Pillar 5 plans. The EU funded Rule of Law programme phase 2, leading the work on the ERPP, contributed to this work and continues to do so. A small working group consisting of NSC personnel from the Department of Social Statistics, IT, and Communications was gathered to discuss plans, needs for improving SGBV data collection methodologies, and available capacities within the NSC. A Terms of Reference, titled "Strengthen the collection and analysis of administrative and criminal data on SGBV and harmful practices", with clear deliverables was one of the results of these consultations. The ToR covers updating the NSC's data-sharing policy, integrating ethical protocols and guidelines, upgrading the NSC mobile application, and creating a digital hub of all SGBV data. One of the activities additionally suggested for inclusion in the ToR is the development of a training module on gender data analysis - including SGBV data - to improve statisticians' knowledge and capacities to analyse and develop reports on SGBV and gender topics. Improvement of knowledge and skills at the National Statistical Committee will enable dissemination of quality analytical documents based on unified data collected from national data holders to better inform the Government, CSOs, academia, mass media and others on SGBV situation in Kyrgyzstan.

Outcome 6: Women's Movement

As described in the section on "contextual shifts" in this report, on March 8, 2020, members of Kyrgyzstan's women's movement were attacked during a peaceful protest to mark International Women's Day. Many of the masked men who committed this attack should ethno-nationalist

¹⁰ As part of the broader process of reforming the law enforcement system, which has started in 2016, the General Prosecutor's Office (GPO) of the Kyrgyz Republic became responsible for maintaining records of criminal statistics, analyzing, developing measures and forecasting the delinquency. A new system of Unified Registry of Crimes and Misdemeanors (ERPP) came into force in 2019 and the GPO is the main holder and coordinator of ERPP. The system is still in the transition stage of its development and does not allow to extract all necessary information on domestic violence and crimes against women and girls.

slogans as they did so, and the groups believed to be responsible (such as Kyrk Choro, or Forty Horsemen) espouse 'traditionalist' models that claim Kyrgyzstan society must return to a more "authentic" past, one where women and men adhere to strict gender roles. To better understand these narratives and resuscitate a more gender-inclusive concept of "traditions", the SI Programme team engaged the Aigine Cultural Research Centre (ACRC), a non-profit that works to maintain and apply the cultural heritage of the peoples of Kyrgyzstan. ACRC staff conducted a series of focus groups discussions with 40 non-conventional actors, i.e. individuals holding nationalist and conservative views, to better understand the values they hold and their perceptions of violence against women and girls, and identify possible entry points for challenging their perceptions. Building from the results of these discussions, ACRC staff suggested that the Programme incorporate moderate (i.e. non-feminist) civil society actors into some activities, thereby integrating and recognizing their perspectives while generating the opportunity for reconsideration and cocreation (rather than direct confrontation) with women's and feminist groups. The Programme will consider engaging groups identified via this mapping in relevant Programme interventions.

Meanwhile, the Programme has launched a series of strategizing discussions with broad range of civil society actors, women's movements and civil society organizations representing various groups, including UNITE, to co-create the Pillar 6 activities. The planning has been anchored in the co-creation approach in order to bring in the voices and expertise of the CSOs and ensure sustainability and effectiveness. Cross-cutting goal of the Pillar 6 is to strengthen the connections between organizations and movements working on EVAW, those of well-established and more new actors as well as to create new spaces for conversations and knowledge sharing.

As Covid-19 and related mandatory quarantine rules came into effect in late March, 2020, funding from this Pillar was directed toward supporting the women's movement to respond to heightened levels of GBV, and in particular the rising incidence of domestic violence against women and children. The Programme team supported the UNITE women's movement in creating and conducting a country-wide public awareness campaign on amendments to the Kyrgyz Republic Code on Misconduct (under which domestic violence offenders may be sentenced to up to 15 days of administrative detention), on how women can protect themselves from domestic violence, and on the availability of crisis centres and how to contact them. Moreover, a package of instructions on how to respond to S/GBV during the pandemic was developed and delivered to crisis centres across the country.

The Programme team additionally focused on leveraging IT mechanisms to end violence against women and girls, using crowdsourcing and participatory methods to do so. For example, the IT community was mobilized (as a broader civil society actor) through a hackathon to co-create IT-based solutions to GBV. Within 48 hours, 53 developers worked on 4 thematic issues: violence against women, violence against children, violence against children of migrants, and the safety of people with disabilities. The hackathon resulted in 18 IT products out of which 3 teams were awarded with financial support from the Spotlight Initiative to develop their products. These are: (1) SmartJomok (smart fairy tale), a web resource for parents on how to read fairy tales with their

children and help them to analyse and draw lessons. The selected tales also promote gender equality and non-discrimination and help parents nurture these values in their children. (2) Chatbot, an app that provides information on how to access help if you are facing GBV, with contacts of crisis centres and law enforcement bodies; and (3) Map of wishes, an Android application that connects people in need of support with those who are willing to provide it, increasing the access of those hit hardest by the lockdown and pandemic to material, financial, and emotional support. Additionally, the Programme provided basic materials for 80 young women and girls – identified jointly with local self-governments as being at risk of domestic violence and discrimination during the COVID quarantine – to learn digital and IT professions.

In sum, the Programme continues to work with the UNITE women's movement and members across the moderate spectrum of Kyrgyzstani civil society to develop strategies for more effective and meaningful support to women's right groups, autonomous social movements, and individual CSOs to influence and advance progress on gender equality, women's empowerment, and EVAWG.

Indicative numbers	Direct for 2020	Indirect for 2020	Commentaires / Justifications
Women (18 yrs. and above)	45,972	2,086,822	
Girls (5-17)	6,963	44,700	
Men (18 yrs. and above)	11,040		
Boys (5-17 yrs.)	49,353		
TOTAL	113,328 (+117,000) =230,328	2,131,522	"Spring in Bishkek" game has been downloaded 117,000+ times, meaning its messages have reached at least 117,000 young girls and boys across Kyrgyzstan, Kazakhstan, Russia, Ukraine and a few other countries. But no disaggregated data on the users is available.

Rights Holders ("Beneficiaries")

Challenges and Mitigating Measures

Since the COVID pandemic has evolved in distinct ways across different stages in 2020, the SI Programme has systematically reviewed its operations and adapted programme interventions to the changing context. Though most of the field level activities were postponed until 2021, the Programme continued remote strategizing, co-creating, and training of CSO implementing partners in media self-assessment, GALS, and C4D. The research component, which had entailed in-person participatory methods, required an urgent adaptation given travel restrictions during the pandemic and quarantine. Ultimately, a redesigned methodology was produced, using telephone interviews, hiring a company to contact a randomized sample of respondents, and sensitizing interviewers to interviewing women and girls on the SGBV topic at the grassroots level. Additionally, the IP hired supervisors to conduct an inventory of service providers' brick-and-mortar sites, visiting each site, interviewing staff, and taking pictures. The program also adapted activities with the Ministry of Education and Science (MoES) to mitigate the risk of heightened SGBV and violence against children during quarantine, building the capacity of social pedagogues who then provided consultations over the phone to quarantined girls and boys. Many families struggled to use unfamiliar technologies and devices for remote school classes during quarantine, and this effort had the added benefit of supporting the MoES to ensure continuity of children's education.

Activities not requiring physical interactions were moved to online platforms after extensive IT training and awareness-raising about available free platforms (Miro, Mural, Zoom, Skype for business, Google platforms, etc.) among Government counterparts and CSO partners. Thus, most of the kick-off and exploration workshops for the Inter-Ministerial Working Group developing the new Gender Equality Strategy were facilitated remotely by international consultants from NormannPartners and Oxford University using the Mural platform, allowing for simultaneous online interactions between groups.

The political changes that began in October and continuous Cabinet reorganization thereafter have further impacted the Programme, with much of the government's institutional memory of the Programme lost. This has affected the implementation timeline for activities with national-level state partners, particularly those in law enforcement, a sector that has faced higher turnover rates compared to others. Programme implementation was therefore accelerated from November 2020 onwards by re-engaging national counterparts on a bilateral basis. The team also maintained relationships with district authorities to counter delays in implementation at the national level caused by the Cabinet changes.

Within this challenging context, the team has made considerable progress in advancing the One UN agenda and reaping its benefits. As the RUNOs adjusted to the new way of working in light of Spotlight's transformational agenda, the team was able to overcome a number of minor stumbling blocks in coordination and communication. These initial hurdles included delays in

the recruitment and onboarding of the Secretariat and some RUNO staff, whose roles were related to filling coordination and programme implementation gaps, and creating a coordinated approach where almost 70% of staff members were new. To accelerate inter-agency coordination and coherence and address this latter challenge, the Programme Coordination Unit (PCU) conceptualized and launched so-called "Pathways of Change" online talks to come to shared understanding of programme theories of change and EVAWG principles, to unpack concepts, to understand details of activities planned by each RUNO, and to map out change pathways under each Pillar. Additionally, dedicated pillar-leads coordinated programmatic activities, while terms of reference (TOR) for programme activities and other conceptual work was done by a joint technical team. One UN visibility and communications are also used to ensure that the Spotlight Initiative programme is seen as a united team within the UN system in the Kyrgyz Republic. Peer review of TORs has led to joint procurement whenever it adds value. These elements of joint delivery under UN Reform have led to greater efficiency, internal cohesion, and communication, both within the team and with external partners.

Lessons Learned and New Opportunities

a. Lessons Learned

Over the reporting period, key lessons were learned regarding the capacities of government partners and the need to provide them with further support; the challenges of implementing innovative methods that are new to the project team itself; and the need to expand the scope of experts involved in the program.

During the SI Programme design phase, it was assumed that key government partners would have the necessary sensitization to gender concerns, EVAWG, and democratic principles to recognize the value of and immediately engage in activities upon project launch. Early SI work with some of counterparts revealed that this was not the case, even for state partners that had been engaged in EVAWG and GEWE before. For example, staff of the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) and lawyers engaged in the 'Bus of Solidarity' lacked a concept of the full scope of concerns involved in representing trauma survivors, and particularly VAWG survivors. Meanwhile, many Members of Parliament and staff of the Office of Parliament were not familiar with civic engagement principles and did not see the value in having members of the public participate in policy-making. The early stages of SI Programme implementation thus involved a realization, on the part of the SI Technical [Team (TT), that the values and principles underlying the SI Programme were not necessarily shared across core counterparts, while gaps in skills and knowledge needed to be addressed. To overcome these unexpected setbacks, the SI team provided gender-transformative experiential learning programs for the staff of beneficiary ministries, with an orientation toward practical, on-the-job implementation of the lessons learned. For example, staff of the Ministry of Justice were trained on the full scope of gender and EVAWG concerns entailed by providing legal aid, with on-the-job coaching included to make the lessons more concrete. In 2021 and beyond, the Spotlight Initiative will prioritize strengthening the interface between Parliament and the public and will continue to work with MPs and Parliamentary staff to orient them toward gender equality theories, principles and values, facilitating this process to help MPs and parliamentary staff to see the value in public participation. Ultimately, the SI Programme team has derived from these experiences the lessons that: (1) ideally during the programme design phase – but if not, then as early in program implementation as possible - assess counterparts to see if they share the values of the program and have the skills and knowledge necessary for implementing activities; (2) integrate into the program design a plan/series of concrete activities (and corresponding budget and time) to bring counterparts up to speed with core programmatic values and knowledge while maintaining the program's overall momentum; (3) involve a wider group of individuals in program design.

Similarly, staff of the PCU and RUNOs have sometimes struggled to implement the innovative and transformative methods described in the Project Document, given that for the most part of SI TT this is the first time using the named methodologies and tools. One of the strategies being used to address this issue is to "learn by doing", with direct engagement by RUNO and PCU members in implementing the transformative practices named in the Programme Document (e.g. the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach). A second strategy is to hold regular "innovation talks", which provide team members a chance to discuss and reflect on innovative methods and are to be held on a regular basis beginning in 2021. Ultimately, a core lesson has been that when innovative and transformative methods are being used, team members and leaders must recognize that the methods are unfamiliar and thus that internal investment, understanding, and mutual support is needed for staff to properly learn and apply them.

Based on this, the Programme team and leadership at the Ministry of Labour and Social Development (MLSD) are exploring available expertise and have invited experts specializing in religion, traditional culture, and political research to planning sessions. Six experts agreed to join the process, which is to be continued in 2021.

b. New Opportunities

The challenges encountered when working with the Ministry of Justice (MoJ), described above, have created the unexpected opportunity for the Programme to work with the MoJ in a participatory re-thinking of the Bus of Solidarity to tailor this intervention to the needs of SGBV survivors and to strengthen survivor-centred approaches in legal aid service delivery. This envisages a series of co-creation and brainstorming sessions engaging the Ministry of Justice as a key coordination

body, the Ministry of Health and Social Development and all other relevant stakeholders, including at the community level. The co-creation process will be accompanied by the roll-out of a gender transformative experiential learning system for lawyers and other experts involved in the work of the Bus of Solidarity, allowing them to critically assess and eventually change their own gender beliefs and attitudes. As an expected outcome, the Bus of Solidarity will transform into a new scalable model to promote legal awareness as a tool to challenge discriminatory social norms and gender stereotypes, and to contribute to an increased capacity of women and girls to claim equality before the law. This new model will pave an important groundwork for building institutional capacities and leading institutions to work toward removing institutional and organizational barriers and power imbalances that prevent effective work toward EVAWG.

Innovative, Promising or Good Practices

Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 activities have used a promising practice to conduct the national Gender Equality Strategy (GES) planning process, introducing improved ways for key government actors to plan for the future and engage diverse partners in the process. Specifically, the Programme engaged the Inter-Ministerial Working Group (IWG) under the Ministry of Labour and Social Development (or MLSD, the ministry responsible for gender equality issues) to integrate new tools such as adaptive leadership, positive deviance, and Oxford Scenario planning when drafting the GES. OSPA created space for the IWG to engage in strategic conversations around the subject of gender equality, encouraged reframing of the GE concept, reduced groupthink and helped to generate fresh ideas. These tools introduced non-linear processes, self-learning, and adaptation to the MHLSD's approach, and revealed the need to engage a larger pool of experts with broader spheres of knowledge into the GES-development process. Having recognized that budget and resources will be constrained in the coming decade, evaluating strategy and plans across scenarios indicated options to perform activities differently, triggering a shift in thinking and enabling a more creative and pro-active stance. Thus, it broke the 'silo expertise' norm of engaging only 5 external experts and 12 members of the IWG, resulting in a shift towards an 'integrated approach' of engaging a broader expert community (focusing on religion, politics, economics, anthropology, and traditional culture studies, etc.). By the end of 2020, the number of people joining expert discussions reached 62 people. The overall process was facilitated by professional experts from NormanPartners and Oxford University. The OSPA tool can be a timely solution because the country was experiencing massive uncertainties caused by political unrest and the fallout from the Covid-19 pandemic, which will provide an opportunity for continuous learning and improvement of this practice.

Meanwhile, to pave the way for the MLSD's new methods – and its resulting GES – to be embraced by other government partners, the Programme delivered a separate presentation on the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach (OSPA) to the Ministry of Economy (MoE), receiving positive feedback because it enables an organization's leadership to reframe its perspectives; to reperceive changes in its context; to surface, examine and challenge its strategic assumptions; to rehearse responses; and to better prepare for plausible and significant changes in its context. This improves the MoE's ability to adapt to the future when the context is perceived as turbulent, uncertain, novel and ambiguous – as is currently the case in Kyrgyzstan. This decision to introduce other government entities to the promising practices being instilled in our core SI Programme partner is itself considered a promising practice, as – while its ultimate results are still unproven – it has received positive testimonials and is expected to pave the way for the more adaptive Gender Equality Strategy to be adopted and implemented.

In an example of an innovative practice, individuals, resources, and methodologies from across the SI Programme have been combined to inform and re-shape the Bus of Solidarity (BoS) initiative, adapting its mobile legal services model to supporting SGBV survivors. When beginning to integrate the BoS into SI programming, the team realized that of the 30,000 rural women and men who have received legal support through the Bus of Solidarity since 2016, none have been SGBV survivors. Reflecting on why this is so, both the Programme team and staff of the Ministry of Justice came to a shared understanding that in its current iteration, the BoS cannot ensure the safety and confidentiality of survivors should they be willing to seek support from its lawyers. Given that many SGBV survivors put their health and lives at risk by help-seeking within the social context of their communities, this lack of full confidentiality presents a major obstacle both to these survivors seeing the BoS as a realistic avenue of support and to that support being provided in a way that does not expose them to greater risk of harm.

To address these issues, the Programme team and staff of the Ministry of Justice will facilitate a participatory re-thinking of the concept of the Bus of Solidarity involving a core group of 'positive deviant' gender equality champions, setting up these sessions as part of diverse community-level activities. The re-conceptualization of the BoS will be guided by a survivor-centred approach whereby the rights, needs and wishes of the survivor are paramount. Furthermore, the lawyers who will provide these critical services – and travel across the country to do so – will be trained in Gender Action Learning System (GALS) tools to foster self-reflection and understanding of power imbalances, leading eventually to real changes in attitudes and behaviours at the individual and family levels. The expected change in attitudes and behaviour will, in turn, become instrumental in co-creating the new concept of the BoS aimed at serving the needs of SGBV survivors. Notably, the GALS methodology and tools have already been tested via a UN Women – EIDHR project in Kyrgyzstan, with this planned intervention being the first application of the methodology to a central-level institutional setting and for use in generating a shared vision and roadmap for a national program (i.e. the BoS). The SI Programme team will closely monitor and document the

results of the innovative practice to determine its promise (particularly related to scalability and sustainability) for ongoing use and further applications.

This is an excellent example of the Programme team integrating 4 elements of institutional leadership on ending VAWG into programming: GALS training to key service providers so that they live the value of gender equality and apply a zero-tolerance approach to violence against women and girls; a co-creation process for effective and proactive leadership support, including the allocation of appropriate resources (Ministry of Justice has appointed a dedicated focal point person); linking to community level activities for effective coordination and coherence at vertical and horizontal level; and engaging SGBV survivors and local level GALS champions to ensure their meaningful presence and participation.

Finally, within Pillar 3, the Programme has been exploring new opportunities under the overall Communication for Development (C4D) concept. One innovative tool currently being explored is that of interactive stories for smartphones, as such methods are inexpensive to produce, have the potential for widespread outreach, are highly accessible given the prevalence of smartphones, and can be effective in shaping alternative behaviours. With these benefits in mind, the SI Programme team developed the "Interactive Stories for Girls" initiative to address inconsistencies between official legal-regulatory frameworks (i.e. domestic and international laws) that stipulate the protection of girls' and women's rights and attitudes about socially acceptable behaviours, gender stereotypes, and patriarchal practices, especially in rural regions of Kyrgyzstan. This led to the previously mentioned "Spring in Bishkek" game, an interactive 10-chapter animated story around a forced abduction for marriage, including 5 scenarios on positive masculinity. The prototype passed a field test among the target audience of 120 active young women in Issyk-Kul, Batken, Osh, Chui oblasts and Bishkek. The test aimed at checking if the messages were understandable for the adolescent girls and young women, if the language/ words used by the characters of the game were relevant and commonly used, if the situations described were relatable, and if the visuals used in the game were attractive for the target group in order to make the game effective. Additionally, it has been tested among volunteers from the video-production sector and gender experts. The story has been uploaded into the mobile application and transferred into the new platform, with the game receiving a 4.8 rating on average, 4,685,609 views for the entire period of advertising campaign; 2,606 users leaving positive feedback in Play Market; 117,000 downloads during 2020. Work is ongoing to assess the extent to which the game has an impact on the gender beliefs and attitudes of players (and ideally practices as well), and thus the extent to which it generates a meaningful transformation in women's and girls' lived experiences.

Communications and visibility

In response to the Covid-19 outbreak and national state of emergency, the SI Technical Team and communication focal points from each RUNO jointly developed – and continually updated – a brief Communication Action Plan, which was integrated into the general *Communication and Visibility Plan 2020-2021* of Spotlight Initiative (SI) in Kyrgyz Republic.

Throughout the year Spotlight Communication team was in close contact and cooperation with EU Delegation's communication specialist to agree on press-releases, visibility and advocacy items to make sure EU is properly represented.

All communication and visibility activities, products developed within SI in Kyrgyzstan are in line with global Communication and Visibility objectives covering specific indicators and achieving first results:

• Objective #1: Raise awareness of VAWG, harmful practices, child marriages and ala-kachuu and its prevalence in *Kyrgyzstan*. By publicizing data and supportive facts, creative messaging to key audiences, exhibiting thought leadership on violence against women and girls, media sensitization and training.

i. Percentage of people who think it is justifiable for a man to (subject) beat his wife/intimate partner (to violence), by sex and age.

Due to the partnership with Kyrgyzstan's highest-distribution newspaper and online infotainment resource <u>Super Info</u>, key messages to generate behavioural changes on domestic violence have reached about 100,000 readers across the country (the target audience being remote, Kyrgyz-speaking regions) and about 300,000 viewers on YouTube, Instagram and the Super Info website. In Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan's capital city with more than 1 million residents, Billboard campaign conveyed messages on new social norms and shared GBV response hotline numbers. Both partnerships were initiated within 16-Days campaign.

Leaflets on key algorithms how to secure while facing aggressor, hotlines and other useful information have reached 15,000 domestic violence victims, medical workers and hotline consultants. This was done within the partnership with Ministry of social development.

ii. Percentage of audience with accurate knowledge on the prevalence of VAWG

Partnership with Super Info with approximate number of 400,000 people reached in total, billboard campaign with mayor's office of Bishkek reached estimated number of 1 million residents, approximately half a million people were reached by the "Kyz Kiyaly" (Girls' Dreams) TV and online programme.

• Objective #2: Illustrate and promote the impact and results of Spotlight Initiativesupported interventions: By finding, sharing and promoting the stories of women and
girls whose lives have been positively transformed by Spotlight Initiative-supported interventions.

iii. Output Indicator 3.3.3: Number of new and other media stories/reports that sensitively report on VAWG and GEWE more broadly

From May to December 2020, the Spotlight Initiative has been mentioned 125 times in local and international media outlets. This number covers 5 press-releases, 12 articles, separate media pitches on programme-related activities, and 20 TV interviews and programmes through which SI representatives and implementing partners shared their gender expertise with the public. These information and advocacy materials were covered by some of the nation's largest news agencies, with daily coverage of 100,000 people each (including social media pages) – <u>Azattyk, Sputnik, Kaktus, Kabar</u>, and more.

• Objective #3: Provide communications for development support to strengthen Spotlight Initiative's programme design and implementation: By influencing the creation and delivery of behaviour-change and culture-shift activities, campaigns and initiatives.

i. Output Indicator 3.2.2: Number of people reached by campaigns challenging harmful social norms and gender stereotyping

The <u>"Spring in Bishkek"</u> game was launched with the support of the SI Programme to prevent marriages by kidnapping, reaching 30,000 downloads in the first 10 days (the annual target being to reach 25,000 players).

The social media campaign "Letter to my 13-year-old self" became a brand-raising awareness activity that reached the general public, including social media influencers. In total, we received more than 300 motivation letters and more than 200,000 comments for the posts shared by both "regular" women and social media influencers.

Approximately half a million people were reached by the "Kyz Kiyaly" (Girls' Dreams) programme, broadcast on online platforms and the national TV channel ELTR with the aim of changing social norms by presenting young gender activists advocating for gender equality.

At least 4 big campaigns were initiated and/or supported by SI in Kyrgyzstan: 16-Days Campaign, social media campaign "Letter to my 13-years-old self", outdoor campaign with mayor's office of Bishkek and online movement "Jetishet".

• Objective #4: Ensure visibility for the Spotlight Initiative, its donors and partners: By coordinating consistent and coherent branding, high-profile endorsements from social influencers, top-tier media placements, organizing publicity events and campaigns.

As a first visibility milestone, a press-release on <u>Safe spaces to protect women and girls from</u> <u>violence arranged as part of the EU-UN Spotlight Initiative in Kyrgyzstan</u> was broadly disseminated in local media. This also served to publicly announce the launch of the Spotlight Initiative in

Kyrgyzstan. From this launch to October 2020, all communication activities were in support of SI activities responding to the pandemic and the needs of women and girls in the country. The last quarter of 2020 saw a further strengthening of advocacy efforts, with the Spotlight Initiative leading advocacy around key international dates (e.g. the International Day of the Girl Child and the 16-Days of Activism campaign) on behalf of the UN in Kyrgyzstan.

From May to December 2020, the Spotlight Initiative has been mentioned 125 times in local and international media outlets. This number covers 5 press-releases, 12 articles, separate media pitches on programme-related activities, and 20 TV interviews and programmes through which SI representatives and implementing partners shared their gender expertise with the public. These information and advocacy materials were covered by some of the nation's largest news agencies, with daily coverage of 100,000 people each (including social media pages) – Azattyk, Sputnik, Kaktus, Kabar, and more. Approximately half a million people were reached by the "Kyz Kiyaly" (Girls' Dreams) programme, broadcast on online platforms and the national TV channel ELTR with the aim of changing social norms by presenting young gender activists advocating for gender equality. Thanks to the SI Programme's partnership with Kyrgyzstan's highest-distribution newspaper and online infotainment resource Super Info, key messages to generate behavioral changes have reached about 100,000 readers across the country (the target audience being remote, Kyrgyz-speaking regions) and about 300,000 viewers on YouTube, Instagram and the Super Info website. In Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan's capital city with more than 1 million residents, Billboard campaigns conveyed messages on new social norms and shared GBV response hotline numbers. Fifteen thousand leaflets for domestic violence victims, medical workers and hotline consultants have been produced and disseminated in support of the Ministry of Labor and Social Development. And as mentioned previously in the report, the "Spring in Bishkek" game was launched with the support of the SI Programme to prevent marriages by kidnapping, reaching 30,000 downloads in the first 10 days (the annual target being to reach 25,000 players).

a) Messages

One of the key messages of SI in Kyrgyzstan **#GirlsCan (#ДевочкиМогут)** – signifying girls' and women's power to free themselves from the fear of judgement and social norms – was widely disseminated through SI activities, platforms and tools to reach the general population though with a special focus on girls. A particularly successful campaign under the #GirlsCan banner was the social media challenge, "Letter to my 13-year-old self" (<u>#ПисьмоСебе13Летней</u>), through which young women and girls reflected on their lives and wrote letters and stories to their younger selves. This received high public engagement, conveying messages of girls' еmpowerment effectively and broadly through personal stories.

The "Kyz Kiyaly" TV and online programme conveyed the same message, though with more comprehensive messaging on non-discrimination and breaking through social prejudices. The program provided success stories of young women who choose "unfeminine" professions or

overcame challenges to achieve success, triggering the broader audience to consider changing social standards toward women and girls.

For the 16-Days of Activism, the Spotlight team developed 10 key messages on changing old social norms to new standards. Through a billboard campaign and social media challenge, messages were shared to nudge the general population away from old ways of thinking to embrace new, non-discriminatory beliefs and approaches. Here are some examples of messages: *"Tomorrow depends on what we do today, now, at this very moment", "Violence against me is not just my private matter, thus I speak up to obtain support and share my experience.", "True Family is love, respect and mutual support."*

While some activists suggested improvements to the visuals – i.e. to make them brighter and have stronger images of women – there was much positive feedback and recognition of the campaign among general population.

b) Media and visibility events

For the public launch of the Spotlight Initiative in Kyrgyzstan, a press-release on support provided to crisis shelters was broadly disseminated, covered in 15 online media outlets, and via 10 TV and radio interviews with SI representatives and members of the gender equality team of the Ministry of Social Labour and Development.

For the launch of the 16-Days Campaign, the Spotlight Initiative and Super Info, the biggest newspaper and online infotainment platform in the country, organized an online concert with the participation of local celebrities. The songs and messages shared via this concert called for a stop to the violence against women and girls and for empowering and supporting every woman and girl. This online launch reached about half a million viewers on YouTube, Instagram and through the Super Info website.

Three articles and the cover page of the print version of the Super Info newspaper that were dedicated to the 16-Days Campaign reached about 100,000 readers across the country.

Thanks to a partnership with the national TV Channel ELTR, three episodes of "Kyz Kiyaly" reached about one million viewers each. "Kyz Kiyaly" was launched as part of the International Day of the Girl Child celebration in Kyrgyzstan, aimed at showcasing success stories of young women and gender activists.

With the support of Spotlight, on June 1, 2020, UNICEF-Kyrgyzstan and the Government of the Kyrgyz Republic organized a live "First Children's Summit" on National TV, discussing how to prevent gender-based violence during the quarantine with adolescents from all regions of Kyrgyzstan. The Vice Prime Minister of Kyrgyz Republic and UNICEF Country Representative participated in the Summit, which was re-broadcasted by 15 TV channels and had more than 100 media mentions and an estimated reach of 1.5 million people.

c) Campaigns

As mentioned previously, the Spotlight Initiative led the 16-Days Campaign in Kyrgyzstan with UN agencies and the involvement and visibility of other development partners, including EU and civil society. The key tagline of the Campaign was "Orange the world! Stop the violence". The three key issues addressed in the Campaign were: the growing number of domestic violence cases (especially during the COVID-19 crisis); the lack of women's representation in decision-making; and social norms that reinforce harmful practices and VAWG. The list of communication activities was led, supported, and coordinated by the Spotlight Communication Team, including those that were implemented by national partners. In addition to the aforementioned partnership with Super Info and outdoor advocacy, UNICEF and UNFPA produced advocacy videos on positive masculinity and women's leadership, while UNDP organized a public fundraising event to support shelters and crisis centres, a series of guest lectures for university students, a series of human interest stories of women-leaders, and interviews with SI representatives and partners which were pitched to media.

The social media campaign "Letter to my 13-year-old self" became a brand-raising awareness activity that reached the general public, including social media influencers. In total, we received more than 300 motivation letters and more than 200,000 comments for the posts shared by both "regular" women and social media influencers.

To raise awareness on GBV-prevention and response hotlines, the Spotlight Initiative supported the Bishkek Mayor's Office's billboard campaign. More than 40 billboards across the city were put up, calling for a stop to domestic violence and informing citizens about the hotlines.

Spotlight supported the digital movement #Jetishet ("Enough"), aimed at stopping online harassment and discrimination against women. The campaign is jointly led by well-known gender activists and social media influencers, with Spotlight providing a platform for gender media experts sessions. This partnership was launched last year and will continue with more programme-oriented support this year.

d) Human interest stories:

Human interest stories are being developed based on the stories of girls and women who are beneficiaries of the Spotlight Initiative in Kyrgyzstan, as well as interviews with local activists and gender champions who are advocating and being supported by the Spotlight Initiative. Stories are developed based on programme implementation: Story 1: Pillar 4,Output 4.2, Story 2: Pillar 3 Output 3.2, Story 3: Pillar 3, Output 3.2, Story 4: Pillar 1, Output 1.1

In the Kyrgyz Republic, lockdowns force crisis centres to close their doors. (Pillar 4, output 4.2) This story of Ainura, a victim of domestic violence, was published on the <u>global Spotlight website</u> and the UN Kyrgyzstan website. Before the COVID-19 crisis, more than one in four Kyrgyz women experienced physical and/or sexual intimate partner violence in their lifetimes. In the capital of Bishkek, the rate of violence against women and girls has increased by more than 60 per cent compared to the same period the previous year.



Copyright UNFPA Kyrgyzstan

How a mobile game is helping to end bride-kidnapping in Kyrgyzstan. This story was published on the <u>Spotlight website</u>. The game was developed by the Open Line Public Fund to help young people learn how to deal with the widespread practice of Ala-Kachuu, the abduction of girls and women for the purpose of forced marriage. Meaning "to take and run away", *Ala-Kachuu* involves a potential groom forcibly taking a young woman or girl back to his home before pressuring her to agree to marriage. Although illegal in Kyrgyzstan and punishable by up to 10 years in prison, Ala-Kachuu remains widespread. According to UNICEF, a total of 147 cases were reported between 2014 and 2018 across the country, although true numbers are likely far higher, with some studies estimating that one in five Kyrgyz girls is affected by bride-kidnapping.



Copyright "Spring in Bishkek"

Bridging the gap: Kyrgyz students design a novel solution to support at-risk groups. This story was published on the <u>Spotlight website</u>. Katya Shin and Sarah Niyazakhunova, both first-year software engineering students at the Kyrgyz-German University in Bishkek, watched the health crisis unfolding and knew that they wanted to help. In May, they joined forces in an online hackathon supported by Spotlight Initiative to do just that.



Copyright UNICEF Kyrgyzstan

In Kyrgyzstan, pandemic-related domestic violence increases vulnerabilities. This story was published on the <u>UN Women regional website</u> and is currently being edited by the Secretariat to be published on the Spotlight website. According to UN Women's Gender Rapid Assessment of COVID-19's impact in Kyrgyzstan, 32% of respondents (29% of men and 34% of women) have heard of an increase in domestic violence or experienced it themselves. The number is twice as high in urban than rural areas. The gender rapid assessment was conducted with the support of the Swiss Government, European Union, United Nations joint Spotlight Initiative, and UNFPA.



Copyright AFEW

How women are changing Kyrgyzstan's Alimony Laws for the better. This story was published on the <u>Spotlight website</u>. In August 2020, Kyrgyzstan adopted amendments to its Family Code to better enable women and children to collect alimony (financial support that must be paid to a spouse before or after a marital separation or divorce). In 2018, the country documented over 40,000 alimony evaders.

The amended law increases access to alimony payments for children and mothers by strengthening the consequences for evaders and adding new criteria. The draft law was promoted by the Spotlight Initiative in close collaboration with civil activists and lawyers.

e) Testimonials:

"I am very happy with open-minded and supportive approach of Spotlight colleagues. Especially, I appreciate their innovative way of thinking. I am sure jointly we can advance gender agenda in the country," – Munara Beknarazarova, Head of Open Line Foundation, Implementing partner of Spotlight Kyrgyzstan.

"Gender inequality starts in our heads. I believe Spotlight team will bring comprehensive behavioral and social changes in our country," – Benazir Kaliyeva, gender activist.

"Discrimination is not a theory. I face discrimination the whole my life because I am a girl and have disability. But I am working every day on myself and with girls around to empower us and not to let us down," – Ukei Muratalieva, gender and civil activists.

"Girls rights are important not only for girls. As reproductive health trainer and activist I am working with girls and boys to sexual education to help everyone realize that family is about two partners," – Uluk Batyrgaliev, representative of Alliance on reproductive health.

f) Photos



Copyright Spotlight Initiative in Kyrgyzstan

Tolkun Tulekova, Director of Association of crisis centers. During the COVID-19 outbreak in Kyrgyzstan she was one of the organizers of shelters for victims of domestic violence. Shelters were supported by Spotlight Initiative. Tolkun also initiated a hotline of psychological help during the lockdown, but the line also served as a call center for any requests starting from food to medicine.



Copyright Spotlight Initiative in Kyrgyzstan

Tamara Bayaliyeva, Chief Doctor of Tuberculosis Hospital of Bishkek. During the COVID-19 outbreak she was one of the frontline workers in a red zone working with COVID-19 patients. There were days when she didn't sleep for more than 36 hours, helping up to 185 patients per day.



Copyright Spotlight Initiative in Kyrgyzstan

Zharkynai Taalaibekova, school student, volunteer. She organized volunteer's groups with her friends during the COVID-19 lockdown, got special permission from local authorities and provided support to vulnerable families. She used her Instagram account to search for families who need help with food, medicine or any other special assistance.

g) Videos

Video story about the game "Spring in Bishkek" to stop bride kidnapping in Kyrgyzstan.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=2CFt5Ve15Q4

Video story about short-term shelters for domestic violence victims opened during the COVID-19 lockdown

https://yadi.sk/i/9FckUI_zWJqyjw

Advocacy video "What do safety and safe environment mean for you?"

https://yadi.sk/d/MEj2xdBwHYKKaQ/UNFPA_interview_rolik_ENG.mp4?w=1

Social media animated video cards with Spotlight key advocacy messages

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1vxiXDzgbnoitie-8a3w1L9yal01ID5IK

Next Steps

In 2021, the team will take key next steps to advance and strengthen coherence and coordination. Notably, the PCU, in coordination with the SI TT, will organize, launch, and continue the following:

- A planning retreat to discuss the most pressing issues related to coordination, coherence, communication, stakeholder's engagement and Programme implementation;
- Working meetings of the CSNRG with the participation of the SI TT to discuss group plans, expectations from the Programme (and vice-versa), as well as the Programme Pathways for Change (ToCs), risks and mitigation measures; Monitoring visits of CSNRG;
- Regular meetings of the SI TT and CSNRG to discuss ongoing progress and priorities, agree on relevant action points, and keep track of the Programme's implementation in a coordinated and coherent manner;
- Regular meetings with the EUD at the technical level and at the senior management level to discuss Programme progress, challenges, ways of overcoming these challenges, and possible avenues for collaboration with other EUD projects and Programmes to generate mutually reinforcing results;
- Regular meetings of the SI TT with the RC and HoAs to discuss progress, priorities, challenges, risks and mitigation measures;
- The process of elaborating a strategy to manage the expectations of different national civil society actors towards the SI Programme, and well as the risk management strategy;
- Technical-level meetings with national counterparts and the SI TT to ensure an in-depth and shared understanding of the Programme's Pathways of Change;
- The process of reflecting on and documenting the experience of SI coordination, as part of implementing the knowledge management strategy;
- Regular TT working sessions to reflect on lessons learned and on improving coherence and joint ways of working;
- Work with RUNOs and partners to work on monitoring strategies and tools to capture qualitative, gender-transformative changes;
- Local-level presentations of the Programme to provide information about SI and its plans and goals, and to collect recommendations on how to further translate them into actions and adaptations;

 Self-assessment and reflection on the capacity-building needs of the Programme team, with involvement of relevant experts to deliver capacity-building activities based on experiential learning principles, ultimately developing a conducive environment for achieving gender-transformative results.

Additionally, a summary of key programmatic next steps by pillar is as follows:

PILLAR 1:

- Professionals from NonmannPartners and Oxford University will provide 3 rounds of workshops on orientation, scenario building and strategizing to help the Inter-Ministerial Working Group (IMG) to integrate scenarios into the Gender Equality Strategy. Furthermore, the draft of the strategy, action plan, and costing analysis will be presented and reviewed by regional stakeholders during public hearings in 7 provinces. After all the commenting period is completed, inputs will be addressed and the IWG will prepare and present the final document to the Government for review and approval;
- The CSO partners who led the analysis of judicial practice in child marriage cases will present their report and recommendations to judicial and law enforcement representatives, as well as other relevant stakeholders;
- The Programme team will finalize and present the report on legislative and policy frameworks to address VAWG stakeholders. Once the results are available, the Programme team will further explore opportunities to support national partners and CSOs to develop necessary by-laws, advocate for changes, and address the gaps and opportunities identified in the report.

PILLAR 2:

- A company will be hired to develop a protocol and mechanisms for dealing with sexual harassment at the work place, which will be designed in-line with the draft law on Sexual Harassment currently being reviewed in Parliament;
- The GALS methodology and tools which were successfully tested at the community level during the EU-funded EIDHR project will be further reviewed and adapted to institutions at the central level. Trainings of trainers will be conducted to expand the pool of GALS trainers to further help test GALS at selected partner institutions;
- Gender audits of targeted justice and security state institutions will be completed in 2021, with key findings presented to national stakeholders. Appropriate action plans will

be developed to strengthen institutions' gender-sensitivity and improve their service delivery, in-line with international human rights standards and human rights-based, survivor-oriented approaches;

- The Programme team will support the development of educational curricula for security & justice actors (police, judges, prosecutors and lawyers) to enhance institutional gender-sensitive and survivor-centred criminal justice practices;
- Those leading the assessment of the design and pilot of a "one-stop" crisis center for victims of violence will present their results and a detailed financial costing.
- A joint tender will be launched by UNDP and UNFPA under Pillar 2 on the development and institutionalization of educational modules for security and justice actors (i.e. police, judges, prosecutors and lawyers), including a comprehensive capacity-building program to mainstream a survivor-centred approach.

PILLAR 3:

• GALS catalysts workshops will be launched in 6 target municipalities to identify a Core Group of GALS champions. This process will be informed by findings of the Ethnographic Review;

- GALS exercises will commence in March, 2021, with the community champions identified through the Ethnographic Review;

- GALS tools will be adapted and applied to train teachers and school administrators in target villages to promote gender equality in school environments. These champions will then train fellow teachers in their schools;

• The media self-assessment tool will be contextualized to and applied by 12 selected media outlets. Gender and media trainings will be designed by a group of local trainers and provided to both print and online media outlets. Based on media self-assessment findings, response plans will be prepared by the 12 media outlets and reviewed by peers during monthly reflection meetings;

- The preparatory phase of the media self-assessment is finishing soon (March, 2021) with a kick -off meeting to introduce this exercise to the media outlets. The exercise will last until the end of 2021;

- Social- and behaviour-change communication strategies will be finalized, with implementation starting in March 2021 and building on the findings of Ethnographic Review;
- The Republican Teacher Training Institute, along with the Programme team, will develop a video training for teachers on how to identify GBV and VAWG, and how to refer the

survivor for services. This is to be proposed for inclusion in the mandatory qualification course for all teachers;

- Trainings will be conducted for potential authors and staff of the Ministry of Education and Science (MoES) on gender and anti-discrimination expertise, to be incorporated into their work in generating teaching and learning materials;
- An interdisciplinary, gender-transformative module will be developed to integrate the concepts of Women's and Girls' Rights (WGR), Ending Violence Against Women (EVAW) and Harmful Practices (HP) in the curricula of law faculties at selected public universities;
- The MoJ will support the Bus of Solidarity to: (a) conduct an effective public campaign on women's rights and EVAWG in rural and remote areas of target communities; (b) promote legal awareness as a tool in comba ting discriminatory social norms, gender stereotypes; and (c) contribute to women and girls' empowerment to claim equality before the law;
- A CSO will be contracted on a non-competitive basis to develop and integrate curricula on gender equality for use by madrasas and vocational schools;
- Consultations will be conducted with the international NGO PROMUNDO the owner of IMAGES (International Men and Gender Equality Survey), with online trainings organized for a local research team on the methodology of the survey;
- The Programme team will design and deliver capacity-building activities for Local committees on the prevention of domestic violence (LCPDVs) to support their efforts to prevent and respond to GBV cases. Moreover, the Programme will provide support in establishing LCPDV in those areas where it has not been operational yet.

PILLAR 4:

- A Lead Expert will be hired to strengthen the capacities and set training standards of sectoral service providers on service delivery, in-line with international standards as well as localized referral mechanisms;
- A virtual reality tool will be developed based on a survivor-centered approach and utilized during the training for service providers;
- Access to justice and qualified legal aid for SGBV survivors will be strengthened based on pro-bono mechanisms, including via a partnership with private sector law firms and crisis centers;
- The inter-ministerial database on children and families in difficult life situations will be finalized and launched in target communities;

- Standard operating procedures for the Juvenile Liaison Service and neighborhood police inspectors will be contextualized based on the results of the mapping of GBV services from the perspective of survivors;
- The mapping of GBV services will be finalized in close collaboration with relevant serviceproviding institutions and presented. Action points to integrate its recommendations into further programming will be developed;
- To contextualize the Essential Services Package (ESP), 10 district-level seminars for service providers are planned for the second and third quarters of 2021. The seminars will be based on the global ESP tool with a focus on practical application of the MSR approach and SOPs to working with SGBV survivors and using monitoring tools;
- SOPs based on the Essential Services Package will be introduced for police, forensics experts, and prosecutors (on providing information on services, as well as guidance on interviewing the survivor victim and taking into account the psychological aspects of her/ his condition and protection from secondary victimization following standards of GBV victims' treatment).

PILLAR 5:

- Capacity-building activities will be held with the General Prosecutor's Office on the 'Unified Register on Crimes and Misdemeanors' to collect and generate consistent, gender-disaggregated data on SGBV, with expected completion of these activities in 2021;
- A CSO will be contracted to launch activities under Pillar 5 to update data-sharing policies, improve data collection methodologies, and integrate ethical protocols into data collection forms.

PILLAR 6:

- The programme will support the UNITE women's network to co-create the process 'Leading Change on EVAWG' and conduct an all-staff Forum to approve the new UNITE Secretariat and strategy;
- Another co-creation workshop will be organized for broader CSO community to develop social innovation projects which, financed by the social innovation grant portfolio;
- Interested women led CSOs will be trained in fundraising skills, inclusive and participatory project design;

- A knowledge management (KM) consultant will be hired to develop a KM strategy and document the 'Leading Change on EVAW' process, to be further disseminated to a wider audience of CSOs and gender advocates and enhance accountability on SGBV;
- A review of women's CSOs, movements, and networks will be conducted in 2021 to assess their capacity-building needs;
- The Spotlight Initiative will provide strategic support to CSOs to implement multi-sectoral strategies to improve networking, joint advocacy, and partnerships for EVAWG;
- Leadership courses and hands-on sessions for adolescent girls in target communities will start in 2021, with further integration of girls' groups and existing women's organizations for study visits and potential coaching on effective advocacy strategies.

ANNEXES

Annex A: Results Framework Annex B: Risk Matrix Annex C: CSO Engagement Report Annex D: Promising or Good Practices Annex E: Annual Work Plan







Annex A 2021

Outcome 1 Summary table

Outcome Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
Indicator 1.1 Laws and policies on	Laws on Domestic Vic 0.25	0,00	0,25	0,00	"""There are several laws and only 1.1. VI (domestic violence), 1.1. VII
VAWG/HP in place that adequately	-,	0,00	0,23	0,00	(rape), 1.1. VIII (harassment) is
respond to the rights of all women and	Laws on Rape 0,50	0,25	0,50	0,25	reported in 2021
girls, including exercise/access to SRHR,	Laws on Sexual Haras		0,00	0,20	
and are in line with international HR					In 2022, SI will prioritize the following
standards and treaty bodies' recommendations.	1,00	0,75	0,75	0,50	targets for legal revision: -Amendments to Domestic Violence Law addressing latest CEDAW recommendations. -Amendments to Labor Code combatting harassment in the workplace. -Conceptualization of comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation (in response to CEDAW recommendations).""
	National laval				
	National level				

Indicator 1.2 National/and/or sub-national evidence-based, costed and funded action plans and M&E frameworks on VAWG/HP are in place that respond to the	Does not apply/ there is no plan Sub-National Level	Evidence-based Costed M&E framework Rights of all women & girls Participatory Development	Evidence-based Costed Funded Rights of all women & girls Participatory Development	Evidence-based Costed Funded M&E framework Rights of all women & girls Participatory Development	-National Action Plan (NAP) for Achieving Gender Equality for 2022- 2024 under the National Strategy for Achieving Gender Equality 2021- 2030 (the development of which began at the end of 2020). As of reporting date, the NAP was costed and is under approval by the Cabinet of Ministers. -The M&E frameworks will be
•	Sub-National Level				developed in 2022.
rights of all women and girls and are developed in a participatory manner.	Does not apply/ there is no plan	Evidence-based Costed Rights of all women & girls Participatory Development	Evidence-based Costed Rights of all women & girls Participatory Development	Evidence-based Costed Funded Rights of all women & girls Participatory Development	
Output Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
	Developed or Strength	nened			

Indicator 1.1.1 Number of draft new and/or strengthened laws and/or policies on ending VAWG and/or gender equality and non-discrimination developed that respond to the rights of women and girls facing intersecting and multiple forms of discrimination and are in line with international HR standards, within the last year.	0	3	3	10	The Child Code provides a stronger legal framework to protect children left behind through formalizing guardianship for children "left behind", stipulates the need for regulations to strengthen the social service workforce. The draft Code provides several significant innovations, one of which is the introduction of the article "Basic guarantees of the rights of the child to social support and protection", which will allow, along with orphans, children whose parents are unknown and those without parental care, to receive equivalent state payments and social support.
	Parliamentarians				
	0	10	4	10	
	0 Women Parliamentari	In total 142 HR staff have			
Indicator 1.1.5 Number of Parliamentarians and staff of human rights institutions with	0	3	3	3	strengthened capacities on national legislation and prevention
strengthened capacities to advocate for,	Human Rights Staff	.			of GBV; of which 104 are Women
draft new and/or strengthen existing	0	0	142	0	HR staff.
legislation and/or policies on ending VAWG	Women Human Rights	Staff		L	
and/or gender equality and non- discrimination and implement the same, within the last year.	0	10	104	0	Full-fledged training for MPs has been postponed to 2022 until the new convocation is formed and starts its work.
	National				
Indicator 1.2.1 Number of evidence-based national and/or sub-national action plans on ending VAWG developed that respond	Evidence-based Needs of ALL women & girls Sub-National	Evidence-based Needs of ALL women & girls	Evidence-based and Costed	Evidence-based Needs of ALL women & girls	

0106010strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG specifically 27 Inter-ministerial Group um strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG specifically 27 Inter-ministerial Group um strengthened tapproach and um strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG specifically 27 Inter-ministerial Group um strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG secifically 27 Inter-ministerial Group um strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG as well as on human-centric and survivor-centered approach and its National Action Plans on ending VAWG and accompanying M&E frameworks, within the last year.0336303363363	to the rights of all women and girls, have M&E frameworks and proposed budgets within the last year.	0	6	9	12	Action Plan: Action plans on prevention of GBV in local municipalities , Sector: , Over reporting period: Evidence-Based Costed
0 10 60 10 strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG specifically 27 Inter-ministraial Group (IMWG) members (25 women and immistraid Group of the NAP as well as on human-centric and survivor-centred approach and reviewed draft National Action Plans on ending VAWG as well as on human-centric and survivor-centred approach and reviewed draft National Action Plans (NAP) 2022. 2024 from the perspective of the users and survivors and 33 member frameworks, within the last year. 0 3 36 3 0 3 36 3 evelopment programme for Batke region in the light of the 2021 tragit events at the border of Kyrgystan with Tajkistan. Human Rights base approach and user-centred principles in lergarting the voices and sepreinces and solution of vormen and searching for local solution of vormen and searching for local solution of NGES and Batken Development Programme participated in the draft of local solution of worme applied.		Government Officials				
Indicator 1.2.2 Number of key government (iMWG) members (25 women and 1) Indicator 1.2.2 Number of key government men) strengthened their knowledge of drafting and costing of the NAP as well as on human-centric and survivor-centered approach and reviewed draft National Gender Equality Strategy (GES) till 2030 and its National Action Plan (NAP) 2022 2024 from the perspective of the users and survivors and 33 member of IMWG (11 women and 22 men) participated in drafting process of a development programme for Batker region in the light of the 2021 tragil events at the border of Kyrgyzstan with Tajikistan. Human Rights base approach (HRBA), multi-sectorial inclusive cooperation and user-centred principles integrating the voices and solutions were applied. As well as 36 Women of IMWG of Voices and sexpreinces and solution of women and searching for local solutions were applied.				60	10	In total 60 government officials have strengthened capacities to draft and cost action plans on ending VAWG
Indicator 1.2.2 Number of key government officials with strengthened capacities to draft and costed action plans on ending VAWG and accompanying M&E frameworks, within the last year. 0 3 36 3		Women Government C	officials	[
	Indicator 1.2.2 Number of key government officials with strengthened capacities to draft and costed action plans on ending VAWG and accompanying M&E frameworks, within the last year.	0	3	36	3	 men) strengthened their knowledge on drafting and costing of the NAP, as well as on human-centric and survivor-centered approach and reviewed draft National Gender Equality Strategy (GES) till 2030 and its National Action Plan (NAP) 2022- 2024 from the perspective of the users and survivors and 33 members of IMWG (11 women and 22 men) participated in drafting process of a development programme for Batken region in the light of the 2021 tragic events at the border of Kyrgyzstan with Tajikistan. Human Rights based approach (HRBA), multi-sectorial inclusive cooperation and user- centred principles integrating the voices and experiences and solutions of women and searching for local solutions were applied. As well as 36 Women of IMWG of NGES and Batken Development

Outcome Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
	Coordination Mechani	sm?			
Indicator 2.1 Existence of a functioning regional, national and/or sub-national coordination and oversight mechanisms at the highest levels for addressing VAWG/HP that include representation from marginalized groups.	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
	ls there a national buo Yes	iget allocation? Yes	Yes	Yes	No open data is available currently
Indicator 2.2 Percentage of national budget	What is the percentag			Tes	because the budget of NAP is subject
being allocated to the prevention and elimination of all forms of VAWG/HP.	0,10%	0,10%	0,0000%	0,10%	to approval. Data will be provided in the end of the project.
Indicator 2.1.1 Number of institutions that develop strategies, plans and/or programmes to prevent and respond to VAWG, including for those groups of women and girls facing intersecting and multiple forms of discrimination.	0	2	2	4	Name of Plan: Action plans on prevention and responding to VAWG, including for those groups of women and girls facing intersecting and multiple forms of discrimination, Name of Institution: Ministry of Internal Affairs and Bar Association, Sector: Justice, National/Sub-National: national
Indicator 2.1.5 Number of targeted national and sub-national training institutions for public servants that have integrated gender equality and VAWG in their curriculum, as per international standards.	0	3	1	6	The work with four law enforcement and judiciary in-service training institutions started in late 2021 and is currently ongoing.
	Government Officials				

	0	15	151	15	In 2021, 151 key government officials were trained on human rights and gender-equitable norms, attitudes, and behaviors. Of which 6 were key mid-ranked officials from the Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Labor, Social Security and Migration on GALS with a focus on transformative
	Women Government C	Officials			capacity development initiatives on
Indicator 2.1.6 Number of key government officials trained on human rights and gender-equitable norms, attitudes and behaviours towards women and girls, including for those groups facing intersecting and multiple forms of discrimination, within the last year.	0	5	126	5	EVAW and 60 government officials (27 Inter-ministerial Group members and 33 members of the Group participated in the drafting process of a development program for Batken region in the light of the 2021 tragic events at the border of Kyrgyzstan with Tajikistan – this data has been also entered in the Output 1.2.2 In 2021, 126 WOMEN government officials were trained. Of which, 36 women from IMWG of the NGES and Batken Development Programme and 85 women representatives of local governments in the 12 pilot municipalities on the national legislation on VAWG.
Indicator 2.2.1 Multi-stakeholder VAWG coordination mechanisms are established at the highest level and/or strengthened, and are composed of relevant stakeholders, with a clear mandate and governance structure and with annual work plans, within the last year.	N/A there is no coordination mechanism	Established at the highest level Composed of relevant stakeholders With a clear mandate and governance structure	N/A there is no coordination mechanism	Established at the highest level Composed of relevant stakeholders With a clear mandate and governance structure With annual work plans	De-facto this is the Ministry of Labour, Social Science, and Migration (MLSSM), which continues to function as a coordination body. However, de-jure the Ministry stopped being a coordination body after being merged with the Ministry of Healthcare, as following the merge the Gov Decree on appointing MLSD as a coordination body was invalidated.

Indicator 2.2.3 Number of national and sub- national multi-stakeholder coordination mechanisms that are costed.	0	1	11	2	Note: The data for 2021 results is considerably higher than the target because at the start of the Programme implementation the team was unsure about the target and did not want to overestimate the results. The team reached an agreement to revisit all targets within one month. At this stage, we would not change target data, as this requires the team's joint work and consensus. The team confirms that the data submitted is correct (11 subnational plans were costed).				
Outcome 3 Summary	Outcome 3 Summary table								
Outcome Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes				

Indicator 3.1 Percentage of people who think it is justifiable for a man to (subject) beat his wife/intimate partner.	28%	26%	28%	25%	 The data for Outcome 3.1 is to be reported at the end of the program. According to an IMAGES study 36,4% of women stated that "There are moments when women deserve to be beaten by men". The study was conducted in 12 SI target communities. Due to fact that MICS data was used for baseline, we find that IMAGES data is not comparable with MICS. The SI team will discuss further how to get comparable data at the end of 2022.
	Female Genital Mutila				
Indicator 3.2 a) Percentage of people who think it is justifiable to subject a woman or girl to FGM (in areas where FGM takes place)	0,00%	0,00%	0,00%	0,00%	Outcome 3.2 a) N/A Outcome 3.2 b) - There is no recent data available. In UNICEF's survey of parents, there was a question about the consequences of child marriage, as a baseline, 8% of surveyed parents
	Child Marriage				saw no negative consequences of
b) Percentage of people who think it is justifiable to subject a woman or girl child marriage.	0,00%	0,00%	0,00%	0,00%	child marriages (DIA, collected in Aug- Sep 2021); - Child marriage was not included in the IMAGES.
Indicator 3.3 Existence of with at least 3 evidence-based, transformative/comprehensive prevention strategies/programmes that address the rights of those marginalized and are developed in a participatory manner.	0	1	21	3	In 2021, SI worked with the Ministry of Education and Science to identify pilot universities for the development and institutionalization of gender- transformative modules on GEWE/EVAWG. The modules will be available in June 2022.

Output Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
	National or Sub- National				
Indicator 3.1.3 Number of national and/or sub-national programmes developed for inclusion in educational curricula to promote gender-equitable norms, attitudes and behaviours, including targeting young women and girls, young men and boys facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination, within the last year.	0	2	4	2	To ensure stereotype-free content a total of 61 drafts of learning and teaching materials have been reviewed for the first time since the ADGE methodology was developed and recommendations addressed to improve them. Based on the expert's review and recommendations, the authors were advised to revise the content of books according to clear anti-discrimination and gender- positive standards. In addition, the experts reviewed and suggested changes to the procedures to ensure effective and transparent expertise.
Indicator 3.2.2 Number of people reached by campaigns challenging harmful social norms and gender stereotyping, within the last year.	0	500	12 825	1 000	+162,844 mobile games ("Spring in Bishkek" and "Secrets of SaryKol" downloads, which cannot be disaggregated by sex or age. + 620 151 views: national legal awareness-raising campaign was implemented to inform women and girls on their rights and how to exercise them in accordance with the legislation. The total coverage across all platforms reached 620,151 views. The campaign was supported to boost the impact of Bus of Solidarity activities in the regions.

Indicator 3.2.3 Number of men and boys	0	60	601	120	
who regularly attend gender transformative programmes addressing violent		_			
masculinities and men's violence towards women and girls in community centres,	0 Boys	50	346	100	
schools and other relevant spaces, within the last year.	0	10	255	20	
Indicator 3.2.4 Number of communities with advocacy platforms established and/or strengthened to promote gender-equitable norms, attitudes and behaviours, including in relation to women and girls' sexuality and reproduction	0	2	12	6	Advocacy platforms: -Upshift, Public hearings; -Responsible Fatherhood and MenEngage; -6 target communities during the 16- Days Campaign.
Indicator 3.2.6 Number of networks of men and boys developed and/or strengthened to advocate against VAWG and stand for promoting gender equitable values and behaviours during the past year.	0	2	0	4	We do not have progress for this indicator.
Indicator 3.3.1 Number of news outlets that develop standards on ethical and gender- sensitive reporting, within the last year.	0	4	17	8	As a result of the training and discussion, a "Gender Code of Ethics for the Media" was developed jointly with 17 media outlets and consolidated by signing the Agreement on striving for gender- sensitive journalism between the participants of the Regional Forum "Gender Optics in Media", which took place November 12, 2021.
	Decision Makers				

Indicator 3.3.5 Number of key informal decision makers and decision makers in relevant institutions with strengthened awareness of and capacities to advocate	0	36	17	72	
for implementation of legislation and	Women Decision Make				The heads of 17 media outlets.
policies on ending VAWG and for gender- equitable norms, attitudes and behaviours and women and girls' rights, within the last year.	0	20	40	40	

Outcome 4 Summary table

Outcome Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
	Total				
Indicator 4.1 Number of women and girls, including those facing intersecting and multiple forms of discrimination, who report experiencing physical or sexual violence and seek help, by sector.		6 675	7 840	6 675	Open data at NSC is available only for 2020, the data for 2021 will be available in Quarters 1-2 of 2022. The Programme team has started working on collecting disaggregated data by sectors.
	Reported				
	758	25	2 861	834	-Open data at NSC is available for 2020 only, the data for 2021 will be
	Brought to Court	available by Quarters 1-2 of 2022.			
	94	3	780	104	-Data collection on survivors of violence among women including
	Convictions				those with intersecting forms of

Indicator 4.2 a) number of VAWG cases reported to the police; b) number of cases reported to the police that are brought to court; and c) number of cases reported to the police that resulted in convictions of perpetrators.	0	0	0	0	discrimination has to be accumulated in the General Prosecutor's Office disaggregated by crime. Unfortunately, data collection and reporting forms developed for the General Prosecutor's Office were not integrated and operationalized in the EPPP (Unified Registry of Crimes and Misdemeanors of the General Prosecutor's Office) due to legal inventory and amendments in the Criminal Code, which was carried out for several months in 2021. The Ministries of Social Protection and Health were merged and separated causing a great burden on both data systems.
Output Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
	Developed				
	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	- As part of an integrated process, the General Prosecutor's Office, MOI, and Ministry of Health have developed and
ladiates (1.0 Evistence of national	Strengthened				officially endorsed the SoPs for
Indicator 4.1.3 Existence of national guidelines or protocols that have been developed and/or strengthened in line with the guidance and tools for essential services.	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	investigation, prosecution, and medical forensic examination services according to ESP. - MLSSM and the Ministry of Interior (MOI) have developed and officially endorsed 2 SOPs for social workers and police (juvenile and district police officers) as a part of the multi-sectoral response mechanism for GBV.
	Government Service F	Providers			

0	200	640	570	640 government Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence; of which 136 (93 women and 43 men) representatives of provincial and municipal authorities, including from sectoral service providers are knowledgeable about human-centric and survivor-centric approaches through a practical exercise done with Empathy mapping, needs identification and prioritization, User Journey Mapping, prototyping, and
women Governme	ent Service Providers			testing tools. They learned about the

	70	258	200	 solutions to issues defined by the group and 504 service providers. 258 WOMEN government Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence. 12 HEALTH Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence. 81 JUSTICE & POLICING Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence. 9 SOCIAL SERVICES Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence. 9 SOCIAL SERVICES Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence. 10 SOCIAL SERVICES Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence. 10 SOCIAL SERVICES Service Providers have increased knowledge and capacities to deliver quality and coordinated essential services to women and girl survivors of violence including 6 WOMEN. Upon legal inventory process completion, SOPs related to SGBV issues will be revisited in order to be aligned to new laws, as well as to international standards and frameworks.
Developed				
No	No	No	No	
	Developed	0 70	0 70 258	0 70 258 200 Peveloped

services that have been developed and/or strengthened that specifically address the needs of women and girls facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination.	No	Yes	No	No	The Programme will work on the adaptation of Guidelines for Providing Rights-Based and Gender- Responsive Services with a specific focus on Disabled groups to finalize by the end of 2023.
	a) Girls with Knowledg	ie of ES			
	0	0	0	0	
	a) Women with Knowle	edge of ES			
<u>Indicator 4.2.1</u> Number of women and girl survivors of violence that have increased KNOWLEDGE of a) to quality essential	0	0	0	0	
services, and b)	b) Girls with Knowledg				
accompaniment/support initiatives, including longer-term recovery within the last 12 months	0	0	0	0	
	b) Women with Knowle				
	0	0	0	0	
	Strategies Designed			Γ	
Indicator 4.2.3 Existence of strategies for increasing the knowledge and access to	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	
services for women and girls, including	Strategies Designed the				
groups facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination.	No	Yes	No	Yes	

Outcome 5 Summary table

Outcome Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes
	Prevalence				
	No	Yes	No	Yes	The Programme started reviewing the SGBV data collection forms at relevant ministries for provision to the National
Indiantes 5.1. Eviatorea of slab alls	Incidence				Statistics Committee. The forms will
Indicator 5.1 Existence of globally comparable data on the prevalence (and incidence, where appropriate) of VAWG/HP, collected over time	No	Yes	No	Yes	correspond to the global standards to the extent possible by the national legislation. NSC has not conducted a globally comparable data collection survey on the prevalence of VAWG/HP since 2018 with MICS.
Output Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes

Indicator 5.1.2 A system to collect administrative data on VAWG/HP, is in place and in line with international standards, across different sectors	N/a - does not apply	1. Health 3. Justice 4. Security 5. Social Services	No	3. Justice	Administrative data on VAWG are collected in a fragmented way by law enforcement. Since 2019, the judicial and legal reform in the Kyrgyz Republic empowers the General Prosecutor's Office of the Kyrgyz Republic to collect and register criminal cases or misdemeanors, including GBV and domestic violence, in the Unified Register of Crimes and Misdemeanors (ERPP). The Programme aims to build up a system to collect administrative data on VAWG across all respective sectors by increasing the capacity of the National Statistics Committee. In 2021, annual data collection forms for the General Prosecutor's Office were developed and approved for inclusion in the ERPP.
	Government				
	Personnel				
Indicator 5.1.4 Number of government personnel from different sectors, including	0	20	0	60	NSC personnel will be trained on
service providers, who have enhanced capacities to collect prevalence and/or incidence data, including qualitative data,	Women Government Personnel				analyzing gender/GBV data to develop briefs and inform decision-
on VAWG in line with international and regional standards, within the last year	0	5	0	25	makers in Quarters 1 and 2 of 2022.
	Knowledge products			1	
Indicator 5.2.1 Number of knowledge products developed and disseminated to the relevant stakeholders to inform evidence-based decision making, within the past 12 months	0	3	0	6	

Outcome 6 Summary table						
Outcome IndicatorBaselineMilestone 2021Results for Reporting Period (2021)TargetReporting Notes						

Indicator 6.1 Number of women's rights organisations, autonomous social movements and relevant CSOs, Including those representing youth and groups facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination/marginalization, increase their coordinated efforts to jointly advocate on ending VAWG	0	4	79	10	 79 women's rights organizations and autonomous social movements and civil society organizations have undertaken coordinated efforts to jointly advocate for EVAWG: of which 24 (11 women's rights CSOs, 1 child rights' defenders CSOs, 3 human rights defenders CSOs, 3 crisis centers, 1 network of professional lawyers, 4 groups/ organizations facing intersecting forms of discrimination); 40 women CSOs; 15 SI Implementing Partners; 5 organizations representing youth; and 7 represented groups facing intersecting forms of discrimination/marginalization. Note: The data for 2021 results is considerably higher than the target because at the start of the Programme implementation the team was unsure about the target and did not want to overestimate the results. The team reached an agreement to revisit all targets within one month. At this stage, we would not change target data, as this requires the team's joint work and consensus. The team confirms that the data submitted is correct. The target was significantly underestimated as e.g. UNITE
---	---	---	----	----	--
Indicator 6.2 Extent to which there is an increased use of social accountability mechanisms by civil society in order to monitor and engage efforts to end VAWG	0	1	7	4	 Name of Mechanism: Council on Women's Rights and Prevention of Gender-Based Violence, Type of tool: Citizen Participation in Policymaking/decision-making, Citizens Report Cards Name of Mechanism: Public Hearings on new Criminal Codes, Type of tool: Citizen Participation in Policymaking/Decision-making, Citizens Report Cards Name of Mechanism: Public Hearings on Electoral Legislation, Type of tool: Citizen Participation in Policymaking/Decision- making, Citizens Report Cards, Campaigning and Advocacy Name of Mechanism: Public Hearings on Domestic Violence Bill, Type of tool: Citizen Participation in Policymaking/Decision- making, Citizens Report Cards, Campaigning and Advocacy New Gender Equality Strategy (NGES)/Civil Society Participation in Policymaking CEDAW/CEDAW sessions in November 2021 State Commitment to Stop Violence/16-Days Campaign
---	----------	-------------------	---	--------	---
Output Indicator	Baseline	Milestone 2021	Results for Reporting Period (2021)	Target	Reporting Notes

<u>Indicator 6.1.1</u> Number of jointly agreed recommendations on ending VAWG produced as a result of multi-stakeholder dialogues that include representatives of groups facing multiple and intersecting forms of discrimination, within the last year	0	5	8	5	As a result of the strategic communication workshop proceedings, the LGBTQI community developed and jointly agreed on 8 comprehensive recommendations that will further operationalize it in the communication strategy's goals and objectives (documented).
Indicator 6.1.4 Number of women's rights groups, networks and relevant CSOs with strengthened capacities to network, partner and jointly advocate for progress on ending VAWG at local, national, regional and global levels, within the last year	0	6	3	12	CSOs representing groups facing intersecting forms of discrimination
<u>Indicator 6.2.1</u> Number of supported women's right groups and relevant CSOs using the appropriate accountability mechanisms for advocacy around ending VAWG, within the last year	0	5	40	5	



RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

PROGRAMME TITLE: SPOTLIGHT COUNTRY PROGRAMME IN THE KYRGYZ REPUBLIC

PROGRAMME START DATE: 01 JANUARY 2020

REPORTING PERIOD: 01 JANUARY 2020 – 31 DECEMBER 2020





Risk Management Report for 2020 (please insert name of country/region)

Kindly use the Risk Management Matrix in your approved Spotlight Country/Regional Programme Document to report on how you have managed all identified risks during the reporting period. Should new risks have arisen, please indicate them clearly and include them in the Risk Management Matrix to replace the existing Matrix. Please also update the section on 'Assumptions' as necessary. (All text in the Risk Management Report: Arial 10 point, normal)

Risks	Risk Level: Very high High Medium Low (Likelihoo d x Impact)	Likeliho od: Almost Certain - 5 Likely - 4 Possible - 3 Unlikely - 2 Rare – 1	Impact: Extreme – 5 Major - 4 Moderat e - 3 Minor - 2 Insignific ant – 1	Mitigating measures undertaken during the reporting period (please include new risks, if any)	Responsible Person	Unit/
Contextual risks						
Resistance from family, community, traditional and religious leaders (returning to conservative values/ideas)	Very High	Likely (4)	Moderat e (3)	The Programme has engaged both women and men to perfom as community level researchers in the process of ethnographic review in 12 target LSGs. The programme has designed both GALS and C4D processes and tools in a way to attract women and men both as individuals and representing institutions across different sectors (this will help to increase sensitivity and empowerment of women, traditional and political leaders to	RUNOs	





				understand, mobilize against violence against women)	
Earthquakes, Flooding and other natural disasters	Very High	Almost certain (5)	Extreme (5)	RUNOs re-programmed 200,000 USD to support country's VAWG emergency response plan as an implication of COVID caused lockdown and quarantine All RUNOs moved their operations and programming online; trained key stakeholders in IT skills through IT Academy and engaged more in strategizing, conceptualizing and co-creation of programmatic activities Activities which required physical presence were re-scheduled for 2021	RUNOs and PCU
Inadequate national buy-in (investment)	High	Possible (3)	Major (4)	The Programme worked closely with Vice Prime Ministers (2 changed since 2020) on social issues to create National Steering Committee (NSC) and expand membership of Gender Council to engage CSOs. NSC has reviewed and approved the Programme online Programme Coordination Unit (PCU) has presented Spotlight programme at several meetings with Vice Prime Minister's office The Programme also closely worked with MLSD leadership and its Gender	RUNOs and PCU





				Unit during COVID-19 response planning and implementation The programme has provided a platform for UNITE women movement to coordinate and plan response measures against acute cases of domestic violence during COVID The programme has partnered with Ministry of Emergency and Bishkek Mayor's office to launch hotlines and temporary safe spaces for survivors of violence	
Resistance from women's movement to change the networking and knowledge sharing paradigm	High	Possible (3)	Major (4)	The Programme has initiated several meetings with UNITE women network to present and discuss Pillar 6 theory of change and activities to find entry points for collaboration The programme has supported Aigine cultural center to explore perceptions of so called traditionalists (people holding traditional/conservative values) on gender equality, violence against women and girls, and identify barriers for collaboration with women's rights groups	RUNOs
Political instability	High	Possible (3)	Major (4)	The programme has regularly monitored the situation The Programme team has send several official letters to relevant	RUNOs and PCU





				national institutions with request to assign focal points During political unrest and Cabinet re-shuffling RUNOs continued working with focal points and technical staff	
Lack of incentives & vested interests are too strong to support reform's implementation and nurture a public interest and rule of law culture	High	Likely (4)	Major (4)	The Programme worked closely with focal points assigned by respective Ministries and Agencies to co-create process design (gender audit, "Bus of Solidarity", etc)	RUNOs
Lack of political will and limited state resources allocated to justice sector prevent the long-term and sustainable implementation of reform	High	Likely (4)	Major (4)	This risk will be monitored in 2021	
Operational risks		L			
High staff turnover	Medium	Unlikely (2)	Major (2)	RUNOs mobilized internal resources to support functions of missing staff. Eg. RCO assigned international UNV to coordinate the Programme until new person is rectuited and onboarded. RUNOs applied action-learning approach where new/existing staff has learnt innovative/transformative approaches, methodologies and tools while working together with IPs (eg. OSPA, adaptive leadership and positive deviance, GALS institutionslizations, C4D, MSR etc). PCU organized and facilitated Pathways of change discussions to unpack activities, outputs, outcomes	RUNOs and PCU





				and ToC and discuss pathways on how the result/changes will be achieved. This contributed to better understandinf of the Programme by staff members newly joinging the Programme.	
Underperformance of implementing partners	Medium	Possible (3)	Major (4)	The programe has regularly organized joint kick off and co-creation meetings with IPs at the beginning of the assignment as well as the regular check-in meetings	RUNOs and PCU
Programmatic risks					
Country Programme is not fully funded to achieve all deliverables due to the lack of required resources (resources additional to the EU envelopes)	Medium	Unlikely (2)	Moderat e (3)	Some Programme acticities are cost shared with other UN Programmes	RUNOs and PCU
Lack of technical and financial resources including to improve service delivery	Medium	Unlikely (2)	Major (4)	This risk will be monitored in 2021	
Funding and services not available after Initiative ends due to lack of resources	High	Possible (3)	Major (4)	Costing of S/GBV related services are being considered within the Gender equality strategy 2030 process.	
Acquired capacity and knowledge not translated in transformative action	High	Possible (3)	Major (4)	This risk will be monitored in 2021	
Fiduciary risks					
Disbursements of resources to small stakeholders (CSOs) and national implementing partner have the potential to provide incentives for diversionary activities	Medium	Possible (3)	Minor (2)	Mapping exercise is planned within Pillar 6 which will cover national and grassrot CSOs and inform possible partnerships in the future	RUNOs and PCU
Assumptions					

Assumptions:

• Progressive new EVAWG legislation create favorable conditions for SI implementation;

• UN and SI team actively applies gender-transformative and innovative programming (operationally and programmatically);

• The Spotlight Initiative has significant political and administrative support, national commitment which facilitates the involvement and commitment of Central and South Asia governments and civil society organisations;

• At least one segment of society will support GEWE and the prevention of child marriage: e.g. gender champions and influential community members are open and ready to publicly support and advocate for changes in the area of EVAWG (social perceptions);





- No major change in the political situation in the region will affect implementation of the Spotlight Initiative;
 There is significant national commitment including through dedication of domestic resources to ensure sustainability and long-term impact of the programme and overall efforts;
- There is significant national commitment to the promotion of gender equality and women's and girls' empowerment.





ANNUAL REPORT - ANNEX C CSO ENGAGEMENT REPORT

Country Programme / Regional Programme:Kyrgyzstan

Reporting Period: 01 January 2020 - 31 December 2020

eporting P	eriod: 01 Jar	nuary 2020 - 31 December 2020						
STRUCTIC	ONS: Please	include any award signed during the rep	orting period (or done with the pre-fund	ling). Record the full value of the aw	ard (all tranches included), even if it extends beyond the reportion	ng period.	
ninder th	at 30-50% of	f Spotlight Programme funds are to be d	elivered via CSOs. Of that funding to CS	iOs, 50-70% should be delivered via	national, local and grass	roots organisations.		
efer to	o the de	finitions BELOW the tab	e for further explanation of the catego	ories. To add a row under an Output,	simply copy and paste a	n existing empty row.		
come	Output	Name of Civil Society Organisation (CSO)	Type of CSO (see definition below table)	Total Award Amount (USD) (see definition below table)	Name of Recipient UN Organisation (RUNO) funding the CSO	Modality of Engagement (see definition below table)	Is this CSO woman-led? Is this CSO a women's rights organisation (WRO) or feminist CSO? (see definition below table)	Primary Vulnerable/ Marginalise Population Supported by Award (see explanation below table)
COME 1: L	Legislative and	policy frameworks, based on evidence and in lin	e with international human rights standards, on	all forms of violence against women and g	irls and harmful practices are	in place and translated into plans.	(see definition below table)	
	and are in line	with international HR standards and treaty bodi	es' recommendations.				espond to the rights of the most groups facing mul	· · ·
	1.1 1.1	Social Technologies Agency "Civic Union" Public Association	National National	55,738 111,125	UN Women UNDP, UNFPA and UNODC	Vendor Vendor	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO WRO/feminist CSO but not woman-led	Rural women and girls Women and girls living in poverty
	1.1	"Women's Support Center" Public Association	n National	1,890	UNDP	Vendor	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Rural women and girls
it 1.2: Na nultiple fo	tional and/or s orms of discrim	ub-national partners are better able to develop e ination.	vidence-based national and/or sub-national action	on plans on ending VAWG in line with inter-	national HR standards with Ma	E frameworks, increase financing and allocate	appropriate budgets for their implementation, incl	uding for those groups facing intersection
	1.2	Public Fund "Legal Centre"	National	55,000	UNICEF	Implementing Partner (IP)	Woman-led but not WRO/feminist CSO	Adolescent girls
	1.2	Kyrgyz Association of Women Judges	National	22,500	UNICEF	Vendor	Woman-led but not WRO/feminist CSO	Other marginalised groups relevant
		b-national systems and institutions plan, fund a						national context
	-	ational and/or sub-national levels in all relevant i	nstitutions are better able to develop and deliver	r evidence-based programmes that prevent	and respond to VAWG, espec	ally for those groups of women and girls facing	g intersecting and multiple forms of discrimination	, including in other sectors.
	2.1	Europlus Consulting & Management SRO	International	66,120	UNDP	Vendor	WRO/feminist CSO but not woman-led	Women and girls living in poverty
		le social norms, attitudes and behaviours chang						
	tional and/or s	ub-national evidence-based programmes are dev	veloped to promote gender-equitable norms, attr	itudes and behaviours, including on Compr	ehensive Sexuality Education	in line with international standards, for in and	out of school settings.	
		non platforms are established/strengthened to	fevelop strategies and programmes instuding a	community dialogues, public information and	d advacant compaigns to pres	mote condex equitable name, attitudes and h	ehaviours, including in relation to women and girls	desvuelity and reproduction, calf confi
elf-esteer	mmunity advo m and transfor 3.2	ming harmful masculinities.	sevelop strategies and programmes, including c	community dialogues, public information an	d advocacy campaigns, to pro	mote gender-equitable norms, attitudes and be	enaviours, including in relation to women and girls	sexuality and reproduction, self-confi
	3.2	Education for Community Development "Center for Law Development" Public	Local/Grassroots	124,102	UN Women	Implementing Partner (IP)	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Rural women and girls
	3.2	Foundation	National	9,900	UNDP	Vendor	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Rural women and girls
	3.2	NGO "Open Line"	National	65,012	UNICEF	Implementing Partner (IP)	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Adolescent girls
		Child Rights Defenders League in relevant institutions and key informal decision	National	10,000	UNICEF	Vendor	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Adolescent girls
ut 3.3. De	3.3		National	97 155	UN Women		No information available	Burnlauran and side
OME 4: V		Media Support Center Foundation Is who experience violence and harmful practice				Implementing Partner (IP)	No information available	Rural women and girls
ut 4.1: Re		nent authorities and women's rights organisation				vices, including SRH services and access to ju	ustice, to women and girls' survivors of violence, e	specially those facing multiple and
	4.1	Public Foundation Centre for Researh of						
ut 4 2 · We	men and oide	Democratic Processes (CRDP) survivors of violence and their families are infor	National mad of and can access quality essential service	37,085	UNFPA and opportunities	Vendor	Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Women and girls
	4.2		nied of and can access quarky essential service	s, mendaning longer term recovery services	and opportunities.			
		Public Foundation Association of Crisis Centres (ACC)	National	46,122		Vendor	Women-led and WRO/feminist CSO	Women and girls
	4.2			40,122	Sin PA		Nonemed and Inconeminat 000	-
		Public Union National Red Crescent Society o the Kyrgyz Republic	f	3,936	UNFPA	Vendor		Vulnerable and marginalized grou population in/during emergency
COME 5: 0	Quality, disagg	regated and globally comparable data on differen	t forms of violence against women and girls an			nal standards to inform laws, policies and prop	grammes.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
it 5.1: Ke	y partners, inc	luding relevant statistical officers, service provid	lers in the different branches of government and	d women's rights advocates have strengthe	ned capacities to regularly co	lect data related to VAWG in line with internation	onal and regional standards to inform laws, policie	s and programmes.
OME 6: V	Nomen's rights	groups, autonomous social movements and civ	il society organisations, including those represe	enting youth and groups facing multiple an	d intersecting forms of discrir	nination/marginalization, more effectively influe	ence and advance progress on GEWE and ending 1	/AWG.
t 6.1: Wo	omen's rights g	roups and relevant CSOs have increased opport	unities and support to share knowledge, networ	rk, partner and jointly advocate for GEWE a	nd ending VAWG, more specif	ically, with relevant stakeholders at sub-nation	al, national, regional and global levels.	
	6.1	Cultural Bassarch Center Aining	National	4.990	UN Women	Vendor	Woman-led but not WRO/feminist CSO	Other marginalised groups releva
	6.1	Cultural Research Center Aigine PF "Techaim"	National	4,990 9.315	UN Women UNICEE	Vendor Implementing Partner (IP)	Woman-led but not WRO/feminist CSO Woman-led and WRO/feminist CSO	national context Adolescent girls
	6.1.	Unique Technologies	National	9,315	UNICEF	Implementing Partner (IP)	Woman-led and WROmeminist CSO Woman-led	Adolescent girls
GRAMME	MANAGEMEN	T COSTS (including pre-funding)						
	N/A							
			TOTAL AWARDS TO CSOs	730,590				

Type of CSOs -International_CSOs operate in two or more countries across different regions. -Regional_CSOs operate in two or more countries within the same region (i.e. Africa, Latin America, Asia, Caribbean, Pacific). In this case, a regional CSO is not one that operates in a particular region within one country. . -National_CSOs operate only in one particular country. -Nocal and grassicals operanisating focus their work at the local and community level and do not have a national scope. They tend to have a small annual operational budget (for example, under USD \$200,000); to be self-organised and self-led; and to have a low degree of formality.

Award Amount In this context, an "award" is any financial grant, contract, or partnership agreement with a CSO.

Type of Engagement. - Implementing Tattner (II): Programmes may contract out particular activities for a CSO to implement, - <u>Strandes</u>- Programmes may issue a broad Call for Proposals to which CSO's submit proposals for grant funding, - <u>Vendor</u>: Programmes may engage with CSO's through a procurement process, such as purchasing services from a CSO or hiring a CSO for a training or other activity.

Woman-Led and Women's Rights Organisation (WRO)/Feminist CSOs To be considered a "woman-ied CSO." the organisation must be headed by a woman. To be considered a "women's rights or feminist organisation," the organisation's official mission/visions statements must reflect its commitment to addressing multiple/intersecting forms of discrimination and advancing gender equality and women's rights. The organisation haved and baddress the underlying driverskystema/structures, including pathatchy and gendered power dynamics, that perpetuate EVANG and gender based violence and work to transform these.

Please select only "Woman-led" if the CSO is headed by a woman, but no information is available or it is not known if the CSO is a WRO/feminist CSO.

lease select only "WRO/feminist CSO" if the CSO is a WRO or feminist organisation, but no information is available or it is not known if the CSO is headed by a woman.

ase select "No information available" if no information is available on or it's not known if the CSO is headed by a woman or is a WRO/feminist CSO.

Primary Vulnerable/Marginalised Population Supported by Award Under the principle of Leave No One Behind, Spotlight UN County Teams are expected to ensure the representation of vulnerable and marginalised groups, including by engaging with CSOs that service or advocate for these groups. If the award covers several vulnerable or marginalised populations, select one population that is primarily served by the award.



ANNUAL REPORT – ANNEX D

SPOTLIGHT INITIATIVE PROMISING OR GOOD PRACTICES REPORTING

COUNTRY PROGRAMME: KYRGYZSTAN REPORTING PERIOD: 01 JANUARY 2020 - 31 DECEMBER 2020



Title of the Promising or Good Practice	Practice #1. Participatory re-thinking of the concept of Bus of Solidarity and building capacity of its lawyers and social workers for ending violence against women and girls Practice #2. Integrating Oxford Scenario planning, adaptive leadership and positive deviance approaches into Gender Equality Strategy-2030 process Practice #3. Challenging social norms through mobile game "Spring in Bishkek"
Provide a description of the promising or good practice. What pillars/principles of the Spotlight Initiative does it address? (When did the activity begin? When will it be completed or is it ongoing?)	
	UNDP has been supporting 'BoS' initiative of the Ministry of Justice of the Kyrgyz Republic since 2016. The objective of this initiative is to provide free legal assistance to rural people. For the last four years, a team of professional free legal aid lawyers of the National Bar Association, Ministry of Justice's employees, state notaries, social workers, representatives of State Registry Service, Ministry of Labor and Social Development provided qualified legal advice to local people on a wide spectrum of issues concerning protection of their rights. So far, over 30,000 rural women and men have directly benefited from their services. However, there is an evidence that oftentimes lawyers involved in the work of 'BoS' lack required gender sensitivity and skills to deal with SGBV survivors. Moreover, there was a zero number of SGBV appeals registered since the 'BoS' has started travelling across the country, which might be also explained by the specifics of SGBV-related cases, when under the pressure of harmful social norms survivors may put their health and lives at risk if their request for help is made public. In the way how it is currently operationalized the 'BoS' cannot ensure safety and confidentiality of SGBV survivors, should they be willing to seek support from its lawyers.
	Under Pillar 3, the SI Kyrgyzstan offers an efficient strategy aimed at promoting gender equitable social norm, attitude and behaviour change at community and individual levels to prevent SGBV/HP. Specifically, under Output 3.2 the programme jointly with the Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development of the Kyrgyz Republic intends to facilitate a participatory re-thinking of the concept of the 'BoS' involving a core group of ' positive deviant ' gender equality champions set up as part of diverse community-level activities. This is being done by leveraging the comparative expertise of participating UN agencies in the Spotlight Initiative to ensure a comprehensive effort to end violence against women and girls. The re-conceptualization of BoS will be guided by survivor-centered approach whereby the rights, needs and wishes of the survivor are paramount. Thus, this promising practice, with its new innovative approach, will combine and utilize resources and methodologies across several SI Pillars.
	As part of this assignment under Pillars 3 and 4, the lawyers who will provide these critical services, travelling across the country, will also undergo a cycle of Gender Action Learning System (GALS) training to foster self-reflection and understanding of power imbalances leading eventually to real changes in attitudes and behaviours at individual and family levels. The expected change in attitudes and behaviour will, in turn, become instrumental in the joint co-creation of the new concept of the 'Bus of Solidarity' aimed at serving the needs of SGBV survivors.





GALS methodology which was successfully piloted under EU-funded EDHR project at the grassroots level has generated some evidence of attitudinal and behavioural change towards social norms. However, methodologies and tools which prove to be successful at the local level are not always effective at the central institutional level. Therefore it requires further learning and adaptation.

This activity was launched in 2020 and will be implemented throughout 2021.

Practice #2.

This promising practice has been implemented under Pillar 1 and 2, <u>Activity 1.1.1</u> Support legislative reform through holistic review and harmonization of legal and policy frameworks on women's rights and SGBV in line with international standards, including focusing on the intersecting forms of discriminations under criminal, civil, family and administrative legislation and <u>Activity 2.1.4</u> Conduct experiential learning trainings (i.e. GALS) with focus on transformative capacity development initiatives with policy makers and implementers on EVAW to live the values of gender equality within targeted institutions (e.g. positive bystander response), and shift attitudes towards victims with multiple forms of discrimination.

Pillar 1 and Pillar 2 activities have used a promising practice to conduct the national Gender Equality Strategy (GES) planning process, introducing improved ways for key government actors to plan for the future and engage diverse partners in the process. Specifically, the Programme engaged the Inter-Ministerial Working Group (IWG) under the Ministry of Labour and Social Development (or MLSD, the Ministry responsible for gender equality issues) to integrate new tools such as adaptive leadership, positive deviance, and Oxford Scenario planning approach (OSPA) when drafting the GES.

This promising practice promotes adaptative management by shifting from 'doing business as usual' to transformative, innovative, by bringing the gap between national and regional levels, and by testing and adjusting new approaches and tools to respond to rapidly changing context in the country.

It has started in mid-December 2020 and will be implemented until June 2021.

Practice #3.

Within Pillar 3, the Programme has been exploring new opportunities under the overall Communication for Development (C4D) concept. One innovative tool currently being explored is that of interactive stories for smartphones, as such methods are inexpensive to produce, have the potential for widespread outreach, are highly accessible given the prevalence of smartphones, and can be effective in shaping alternative behaviours. With these benefits in mind, the SI Programme team developed the "Interactive Stories for Girls" initiative to address inconsistencies between official legal-regulatory frameworks (i.e. domestic and international laws) that stipulate the protection of girls' and women's rights and attitudes about socially acceptable behaviours, gender stereotypes, and patriarchal practices, especially in rural regions of Kyrgyzstan.

This initiative has been supported under Pillar 3 Activity 3.2.3. Implementation of the Communication for Development (C4D) Strategy to end Child Marriage and challenge harmful social and gender norms related to VAWGs. Work through a community Core Group of influencers (positive deviants) to work toward norm change through community mobilization. Reinforce C4D strategy through creation of social media application targeting youth to challenge social norms related to VAWG and CM.





	 Shaping alternative behaviors requires using innovative communication formats such as mobile interactive games which would have mass coverage with an affordable budget. Today's audience prefers games and videos over any other formats and demonstrates large consumption of the former. A Hubspot study involving 3,000 respondents proved that video is the format that users expect from brands: 54% of respondents prefer a video about a product over newsletters, pictures, and blog stories. Currently the team is finalizing the script for the follow-on game, which will be telling the story of a girl who avoids being married early. The story will feature a number of characters who are usually engaged in decision-making related to marriage and professional choices of girls in Kyrgyzstan. The story will aim to show very familiar people who they can relate to changing their perceptions, attitudes and behaviours as the story progresses. The next story is expected to be launched in the summer 2021. The activity has been launched on 11 June 2020 and will be implemented until 30 November 2021.
Objective of the practice: What were the goals of the activity?	Practice #1: The goal of developing an innovative approach to this promising practice is twofold. On the one hand it aims to sensitize both Ministry of Justice and associated BoS team on gender equality and SGBV to increase their empathy and encourage to find adaptive solutions while providing services to SGBV survivors and to collaborate with local activists to reach out and inform SGBV survivors on BoS free legal aid opportunities on the other.
	Practice #2: The objective of the second assignment is to co-create and facilitate participatory process of GES review and development, which is meant to reinforce the urgency for change that enables partners participating in GES process, to strive for defining new pathways and approaches that will enable acceleration of the progress on gender equality by 2030.
	Practice #3: Third promising practice is aimed at de-mystifying and de-constructing old norms (harmful practices such as bride kidnapping) and shaping alternative behaviours among youth using innovative communication formats such as interactive games.
Stakeholders involved: Who are the beneficiaries or target group of the practice? Describe how all relevant stakeholders were engaged.	Overall process under the first practice will be co-designed and co-facilitated by the Ministry of Justice, Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development, National Bar Association and its associated Training Center for Lawyers. The Ministry of Justice, as a main coordinating body for the provision of free legal aid in the country, has appointed a focal point who would lead overall planning and launching process. To ensure all engaged stakeholders live the value of gender equality the GALS trainers (Gender Action Learning System) representing local CSOs will carry out 3 rounds of 2 days workshops for lawyers, social workers, Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development staff which will help to analyse and break through cultural and social norms at individual and organizational levels, which justify and sustain gender-based violence and discrimination, as challenges preventing them to achieve their vision. Access to local communities will be ensured by local GALS champions and community level Core Group (representing local self-government structures, including committees on prevention of violence, activists, service providers such as social workers, police etc). The primary beneficiaries of the project will be survivors of S/GBV, women and girls from 12 target LSGs.
	This process will be closely coordinated with EU Rule of Law project. Respective EU staff will be invited to attend the workshops/training and observe transformative process.
	In the second practice, as focal point agency, the Ministry of Labour and Social Development is leading overall process along with Inter-Ministerial working group which consists of 18 ministries and agencies (Ministry of Health, Ministry of Education, State Personnel Service, Ministry of Defence, Ministry of Emergency, Ministry of Culture etc); National Statistics Committee, Bishkek and Osh Mayors'





	Office, 4 representatives of Province Administrations, and gender experts. If initially IWG consisted of 12 persons, after new approaches and tools introduced it was expended to 44 people.
	Local NGO Agency of social technologies provided technical (8 professional experts) and logistics support (7 regional facilitators) to the process.
	Additionally the Programme engaged 6 experts specializing on political research, traditional culture studies, religious studies etc.
	Moreover, the Programme has partnered with OSCE, USAID, Swiss Embassy and Soros Foundation to co-fund the process or contribute substance-wise.
	Separate presentation was organized for 15 staff of the Ministry of Economy under the leadership of the Minister, since this government agency sets the standards for strategic policy document development.
	The third innovative practice has united a lot of actors around it – Public Fund "Open Line" which administered overall project, sub-contracted scrip writers who have written 10 chapters, IT engineers who have developed software and application. At the testing phase the Programme has engaged 120 young women across 4 provinces and Bishkek city.
What makes this a promising or good practice? Identify distinguishing feature(s) that make this a promising or a good practice in the efforts to EVAWG and/or in the context of the UNDS reform.	First practice: The combination of technical and adaptive solutions would make this practice promising. Instead of continuously providing services to general public (although some elements which prove to be effective will be retained and built on) this process will address sensitivities by searching for new adaptive solutions, by raising empathy, and by creating safe spaces for S/GBV survivors to voice their issues and seek for professional legal advice. This process will bring together relevant stakeholders (Ministry of Justice personnel, Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development, Bar Association, Training Center for Lawyers, lawyers, social workers, crisis centers, gender experts) to co-create the concept, methodology and tools. Ministry of Justice has demonstrated full leadership support to this process and has appointed a dedicated and committed person who would oversee overall process and perform as resource person. Moreover, all stakeholders (at the national level - Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development personnel, and free legal aid lawyers, at the local level – social workers and community activists) will go through GALS training. Earlier, this methodology and tools has already showcased effectiveness at individual and community level but requires adaptation to the thematic area and institutional setting. Building on the elements which proved to be effective, this would be the first attempt to test it at the central level - institutional setting. The outcome of the process design will be DREAM of the Bus exercise which will define the common shared vision and the roadmap. It will be devised after stakeholders will complete individual level self-reflections.
	This initiative will be implemented at the nexus of several Pillars (1, 2, 3) by combining and complementing methodologies, processes and tools as well as linking various actors both at the national and grassroots levels.
	Another aspect to how this this promising practice has been approached innovatively is that it has been integrating 4 elements of institutional leadership on ending VAWG: GALS training to key service providers so that they live the value of gender equality and apply a zero-tolerance approach to violence against women and girls; a co-creation process for effective and proactive leadership support, including allocation of appropriate resources (Ministry of Justice has appointed a dedicated focal point person); linking to community level activities for effective coordination and coherence at vertical and horizontal level; and engaging SGBV survivors and local level GALS champions to ensure their meaningful presence and participation.





Second practice: OSPA created space for the IWG to engage in strategic conversations around the subject of gender equality. encouraged reframing of the GE concept, reduced group-think and helped to generate fresh ideas. These tools introduced non-linear processes, self-learning, and adaptation to the MHLSD's approach, and revealed the need to engage a larger pool of experts with broader spheres of knowledge into the GES-development process. Having recognized that budget and resources will be constrained in the coming decade, evaluating strategy and plans across scenarios indicated options to perform activities differently, triggering a shift in thinking and enabling a more creative and pro-active stance. Thus, it broke the 'silo expertise' norm of engaging only 5 external experts and 12 members of the IWG, resulting in a shift towards an 'integrated and inclusive approach' of engaging a broader expert community (focusing on religion, politics, economics, anthropology, and traditional culture studies, etc) and regional and grassroots actors. By the end of 2020, the number of people joining expert discussions reached 62 people. The overall process was facilitated by professional experts from Norman Partners and Oxford University. The OSPA tool can be a timely solution because country was experiencing massive uncertainties caused by political unrest and the fallout from the Covid-19 pandemic. Meanwhile, to pave the way for the MLSD's new methods - and its resulting GES - to be embraced by other government partners, the Programme delivered a separate presentation on the Oxford Scenario Planning Approach (OSPA) to the Ministry of Economy (MoE), receiving positive feedback because it enables an organization's leadership to reframe its perspectives; to reperceive changes in its context; to surface, examine and challenge its strategic assumptions; to rehearse responses; and to better prepare for plausible and significant changes in its context. This improves the MoE's ability to adapt to the future when the context is perceived as turbulent, uncertain, novel and ambiguous – as is currently the case in Kyrgyzstan. This decision to introduce other government entities to the promising practices being instilled in our core SI Programme partner is itself considered a promising practice, as - while its ultimate results are unproven – it has received positive testimonials and is expected to pave the way for the more adaptive Gender Equality Strategy to be adopted and implemented. Moreover, the Programme has introduced adaptive leadership and positive deviance approaches to stakeholders and supported regional teams to look for certain individuals and groups whose uncommon behaviours and strategies enabling them to find better solutions to problems than their peers, while having access to the same resources and facing similar or worse challenges. Regional teams were tasked to identify such positive deviants and bring them to regional public hearings (planned to be organized in 7 provinces) to share their perspectives, successful behaviours and strategies. Third practice: An Interactive 10-chapter animated story around a forced abduction for marriage received a 4.8 rating out of 5, 4,685,609 views for the entire period of advertising campaign; 2.606 users leaving positive feedback in Play Market; 117.000 downloads during 2020. The most frequent reasons chosen by the players in the online survey of reasons they play the game were related to the importance of the cause the game is devoted to. The features used in the game, which allow to personalize the main character, choose a pet, and select the provided option of actions in a safe environment, thereby learning the outcomes and consequences of their actions, has proven to be effective in creating empathy with the heroines, and establish a lasting interest in playing the game. The story has been uploaded into the mobile application and transferred into the new platform.





- 	
What challenges were encountered and how were they overcome?	Practice #1: At different stages of the activity the Program has faced a number of challenges briefly summarized below:
	First, the Programme has challenged 'business as usual' internally between RUNOs since this initiative requires consolidation and adaptation of the methodologies and tools (eg, GALS) utilized by different RUNOs under several Pillars. Thus, the Program has engaged RUNOs in peer review of TORs, exchange and exploration of methodologies and tools developed by respective RUNOs, several joint brainstorming sessions on joint planning and strategizing (who would come at which stage, coordination between Implementing Partners (IPs), cost-sharing etc).
	Second, the Program has also challenged partners' 'business as usual' namely in the Ministry of Justice and relevant associated units. Intensive negotiations, trade-offs and reflective discussions with the Ministry resulted in their buy-in and commitment. To demonstrate the necessity of this activity, the Programme used statistics accumulated from the previous tours where none of the S/GBV survivors applied for support. The mindshift and change of attitude happened gradually in the process of joint conceptualization (why we are doing, what is working, not working), advocacy and joint process planning which was done in co-creation mode (engaging relevant stakeholders). Appointing separate focal point in the Ministry who could fully engage into the process was instrumental to accelerate the progress.
	Another big challenge for the Programme will be to find the right way to sensitize and collaborate with local actors (local authorities, social workers, local committees on prevention of violence, GALS/C4D activists) to help the BoS team to reach out SGBV survivors. To address this the Programme will closely work with Core Group of local GALS/C4D activists who will be identified in the process of ethnographic review, GALS workshops and C4D training. The Programme will also closely work with 12 social workers who would be nominated by the Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development. Their engagement is strategic because they know local context and people, have their trust and have local database of socially vulnerable people.
	And finally, the Program will jointly discuss and develop risk mitigation measures together with the Ministry of Justice and Ministry of Healthcare and Social Development based on lessons learnt from previously tested GALS processes under EIDHR project. Among the key lessons were lack of motivation and possibility to attend full series of training, high turnover of civil servants, selection criteria (motivation and interest in gender equality and support to SGBV survivors). The programme will propose to increase the number of people who would go through the GALS training, co-develop selection criteria, train skills through additional tools (such as Brilliant) even through it would require additional resources.
	Practice #2: Both experts and government raised their concerns, doubts and assumptions related to adaptability of the approaches and tools to official procedures and possibility of reflecting scenarios in the official document. Government level strategic planning processes are strictly regulated by internal normative framework and procedures. There is guidelines devised and recommended to follow by the Ministry of Economy. To address this the Programme has carried advocacy meetings explaining benefits and value-add of the innovative practices to the process, requesting NormannPartners and Oxford University to deliver a series of presentations to Ministry of Economy and expert group and persuading to try and test it first. After the first two sessions when everyone increased understanding of the tools more people were joining to workshops.
	Another barrier was related to language because NormannPartners and Oxford University professionals do not speak Russian and expert group do not speak English. To ensure quality of the process a core team was created consisting of UN Women team and RCO who helped to co-facilitate workshops in local languages.





	Other set of technical constraints were caused by COVID restrictions. All workshops were transferred online and sessions split into several 3-4-hour sub-sessions to keep the audience focused and present. To ensure proper translation the Programme has changed 2 teams of translators, also introducing separate sessions to them to better understand concepts, terminology and process details. Core team also supported local experts with technical issues such as using online platforms such as Mural, zoom and Miro for simultaneous group interactions.
	Practice #3: In the course of implementation the Programme has faced a number of challenges related to COVID context, VAWG/video production relevant content and related competences of actors both technical and operational.
	Second wave of COVID and political unrest followed after Parliamentary elections distracted the team from production work. Thus the team signed up to be volunteers to bring law and order to Bishkek city streets. The second wave of COVID-19 also affected some team members and it took them some time to restore health.
	Prior to this practice, the production team accumulated some experience in writing short scripts tailored to narrow target group and communicating to relevant actors (script writers, artists). However they experienced challenges with communication of the ideas to programmers, writers of large scripts and UX designers and game producers. Partly because the team has also lack of knowledge in technical specifics and terminology of game production.
	Among the operational challenges the team highlighted issues with transitioning of the content from negative to positive scenarios. These are the social marketing principles implemented by strengthening the contrast and involving viewers by making changes important. Selection of the right music and meaningful translation into Kyrgyz language was another challenge. Technical issues included gamification via push notifications and switching to the new platform (with special cheat codes and transitioning between languages).
	To address above challenges, the team has created a space for teamwork and exchange of ideas and expertise, open discussion and communication of issues as well as joint search for relevant solutions. Thus, when translators and technical team understood the concept behind the scenarios they could propose right wording reflecting both emotions and style and technical solutions such as transferring to new platform, removing bugs, adding push notifications etc. Due to tense external environment and associated constraints the team has applied action-learning approach addressing multiple emerging issues and introducing corrections while producing the game. For example, after testing demo-versions on concrete audience they modified some parts based on feedback received. It was both learning and adaptation of scenarios to target audiences.
Outputs and Impact: What have been the results thus far? Do they contribute to long-term impact?	First practice: The process of awareness raising, advocacy and co-creation has yielded first results. The Ministry of Justice has appointed a focal point who is supportive of change to the BoS concept and implementation strategies. GALS champions agreed to adapt training tools to institutional arrangement and deliver series of tailored training. RUNOs are considering their engagement in co-design of GALS methodology/tools adaptation, co-funding and linking local level actors with BoS lawyers. In the long run, through this practical experience the Ministry of Justice will have an improved understanding why adaptive solutions are critical when planning and implementing state response to violence against women and girls. In institutional terms, the Ministry will also benefit from documentation of the BoS model experience, which might help the Ministry through replication of some of the elements to improve services provided by its structural units to different vulnerable groups of population.





	Second practice: The programme received positive feedback from Ministry of Economy on the process and approach. In the course of preparatory workshops the Inter-Governmental Working Group membership increased from 12 to 44 members, by the end of 2020 more than 60 persons started to participate in the process. Gender equality and EVAWG issues have been placed and analysed from big picture perspective.
	Third practice: Chapters 7-10 of the game have been animated. New chapters were tested in the social media and involved over 120 users (Issyk-Kul, Batken, Osh, Chui oblasts and Bishkek). Characters' phrases and remarks are being finalized based on users' comments. Furthermore, the script has been tested among the target audience of 120 active young women (Issyk-Kul, Batken, Osh, Chui oblasts and Bishkek) in Kyrgyz and Russian languages; the texts have been revised respectively.
	The Play Market system has registered 117,004 downloads and 2,606 users leaving positive feedback. During the entire period of advertising campaign 4, 685,609 views have been tracked.
	117,000 downloads from the game launch on June 22 till December 6, 2020. The game is also played outside Kyrgyzstan in Russia, Kazakhstan, Ukraine and other countries with Russian-speaking population. Since its launch on 22 June 2020 the game has received an average rating of 4.8 out of 5. The Programme has tracked 4,685,609 views for the entire period of advertising campaign, and 117,000 downloads.
	The fact that 2,606 users have left positive feedback in Play Market shows that it did not leave users indifferent.
	Global data indicates that norm change does not happen immediately but requires at least one generation change (10-20 years). This game has just planted the seeds for long-term impact since it challenges one of the most widespread phenomenon in the country.
Adaptable (Optional) In what ways can this practice be adapted for future use?	Practice #1: GALS tools earlier tested at the grassroots community level will be adapted to institutional arrangement thus enhancing both institutional capacity of those engaged in learning and adaptation and institutional memory. The teams from both Ministries will be sensitized not only attending series of training sessions but also utilizing acquired knowledge and skills in the field activities.
	In the course of the co-creation process the Ministry of Justice has also seen the potential in applying this approach to probation system (for psychologists who should work with prisoners on strengthening their relations with families after their release). The Ministry might also adapt the approach into design and implementation of legal awareness campaigns, as they already see the great value added from homegrown solutions and ideas suggested by local actors in terms of media products and messaging for achieving greater outreach and fulfilment of 'leaving no one behind' principle.
	Practice #2: WIN team who introduced adaptive leadership and positive deviance concepts and tools were requested by some RUNOs to deliver tailored training to broader staff.
	Some RUNOs who underwent training decided to test it in women economic empowerment and peacebuilding projects by slightly adapting the tools to project needs.





	Analysis of both transactional and contextual factors demonstrated the need to engage more actors especially thematic experts specializing in politics, social and cultural research, religion etc who shared perspectives from different angle and enriched context analysis. This can be continuously be adapted to be tailored to various contexts.
Replicable/Scale-Up (Optional) What are the possibilities of extending this practice more widely?	 Practice #1: There are opportunities for replicability and scale-up in various contexts. Once more evidence is generated and further explored in terms of adaptability and replicability, its scale-up will be considered after the testing phase. Practice #2: Some RUNOs as well as regional and grassroots gender activists who have been trained started to apply adaptive leadership and positive deviance approach in their projects and programmes (please see above). Practice #3: The findings demonstrate high potential and demand among adolescent girls for upscaling and replication. The team plans to launch the next story on the game app devoted to the issue of child marriages in Kyrgyzstan. It will be produced in Kyrgyz and Russian. However, there is a potential to translate the game into Uzbek and Tajik and promote it in the neighbouring countries who are facing the issue of child marriages too. Going forward the game app can be used to continue producing new storylines around the issues of gender equality and the rights of women and girls.
Sustainable What is needed to make the practice sustainable?	First practice: The mechanisms, approaches and tools developed in the process of the co-creation will be sustained in respective institutions though trained staff, materials produced, experiences gained during field activities while providing services to SGBV survivors. Second practice: These promising practices lay the ground for building in-house capacity. Participating government focal points, experts from CSOs and UN acquired knowledge and skills in adaptive leadership, positive deviance and OSPA. Core group of national experts provide extensive technical and methodological support to both Government and UN while drafting policies and programs. Above processes contributed to enrich toolbox of innovative solutions which can be widely applied by Government, UN and CSOs. Based on experience, national expert group plans to prepare separate guidelines for Government. UN system is interested in this process to test it during upcoming UNDAF development process. documenting process and outcomes.
	 Third practice: Both software and application will remain on Play Market and everyone would have access to it any time. The team engaged in game production (scrip writers, game developers, UX designers, programmers, project administrators and PR) have strengthened their understanding and knowledge in complexities of VAWG work, complex interplay of norms and have become more gender sensitive. This team can share their knowledge and experiences with teams who would be working on Virtual Reality under Pillar 4, and anyone interested in similar content production. This in-house expertise and capacity would be a great asset since these types of skills are in high demand and costly in the local market. Users who have played this game basically have been inoculated against this harmful practice. An attitudinal inoculation would build their
Additional details and contact information: Are there any other	resistance and resilience against bride kidnapping. First practice: Based on the participatory mapping of existing essential services findings the Programme has refused from adding services





	consultation and referral (eg. crisis centers, FLA centers and other essential service providers) by providing contacts where they can
about the promising or good practice?	
Please provide contact details of a	The Programme is also exploring Moldovan experience of 20-page user friendly institutional guide (describing 5 pillar step-by step
	approach). These materials have been scaled up beyond Moldova and proved to be adaptable to different contexts.
photos/videos	
F	Contact details of focal person for first practice – Nurai Mamytova, UNDP SI Programme Coordinator nurai.mamytova@undp.org
	Contact details of focal person for second practice – Inna Pyykko, Junior Professional Officer, UN Women, iina.pyykko@unwomen.org
	Contact details of focal person for third practice – Zhypar Turmamatova, Gender Programme Officer, UNICEF, zturmamatova@unicef.org

